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ABOUT XTREME
Xtreme Drilling and Coil Services Corp. designs, 

builds and operates a fleet of high-specification 

drilling rigs and coiled tubing well service units. 

Our fleet is equipped with numerous patented 

and proprietary technologies developed to 

improve safety, performance and mobility. We 

currently operate our XDR drilling rigs and XSR 

coiled tubing units under contracts with oil and 

natural gas exploration and production 

companies and integrated oilfield service 

providers in North America and Asia.

* Among top 25 U.S. drillers for 2015
** Among all U.S. drillers for 2015
 Source: RigData

12,450 feet 

on well with 6,500 foot vertical

Broke our own record for 
lateral reach with 2-5/8” coil:

Set efficiency record:

COILED TUBING  
INTERVENTION

DRILLING  
RIGS

Average footage per well drilled*
Average wells drilled per marketed rig*
Average monthly footage per marketed rig*

Total footage drilled**

COLORADO RECORD – DENVER-JULESBURG BASIN

11,552 feet                   200.9 feet

drilled in one run (vertical, 
curve and lateral intervals)

average per on-bottom 
drilling hour

2015

2014

2013

2012

2011

$221.4

$61.2

6,057

REVENUE (in millions)

2015

2014

2013

2012

2011

EBITDA (in millions)

2015

2014

2013

2012

2011

OPERATING DAYS

$267.4

$229.8

$174.5

$104.0

$77.0

$73.7 

$35.0

$21.9

8,188

8,068

6,550

4,602

42 frac plugs

milled in 40 hours from 
rig-up to rig-down

#1

#9

Shareholders and other interested individuals can view Xtreme Drilling and Coil Services Corp. public documents at www.xtremecoil.com, 
where we have posted drilling rigs and coiled tubing units, locations, historical information, shareholder reports, news releases, the current 
corporate presentation, as well as trading and contact information.
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Xtreme Drilling and Coil Services is 
accustomed to outshining our competitors in 
the field, setting new performance records 
with our technologically advanced fleet. That 
continued in 2015, in both our XDR drilling 
and XSR coil services divisions. But we also 
outperformed our peers in areas that are even 
more important in this challenging market—
including measures of our activity, profitability 
and stability. Our leading-edge technology was 
again a major reason, along with a management 
team committed to carefully steering our 
company through the downturn.

At the beginning of 2015, we vowed to 
aggressively strengthen our balance sheet 
and preserve liquidity until commodity prices 
rebound. Our success in accomplishing these 
goals speaks to the skill of our management 
team in navigating the ups and downs of this 
cyclical industry.

Over the course of the year, we made 
tremendous strides in continuing to 
deleverage—reducing our debt by more 
than 25%. Perhaps most impressively, cost 
reductions and new efficiencies enabled us to 
maintain fairly consistent operating margins 
despite the expected dropoff in asset  
utilization. Not many oilfield service companies 
can say that.

OVERCOMING BOTH TECHNICAL 
& MARKET CHALLENGES

“Xtreme was able to maintain fairly 
consistent operating margins despite the 
expected dropoff in asset utilization.” 

OUR FLEET

10 XSR
COILED TUBING UNITS

21 XDR
DRILLING RIGS
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OPERATIONS 

Despite the steep decline in North American 
drilling and completions, our fleet remained 
active relative to the rest of the industry in 
2015. Xtreme has the equipment operators want 
in this market, as older and lower-specification 
rigs are being stacked disproportionately—and 
even retired.

Our fleet reached the end of its latest growth 
phase in 2015, as the final three of four new-
build XSR units were delivered. We now have 21 
XDR drilling rigs and 10 XSR coiled tubing units.

Expanding Services, Footprint & 
Customer Base
Our coiled tubing services business continued 
to gain market share in 2015, as operators 
are increasingly recognizing the value of our 
technology and larger-diameter coil. In fact, we 
built our base of clients under master service 
agreements by over 100% during the year. Our 
industry-leading XSR units enabled us to not 
only stay active compared to our peers, but 
also broaden our extended-reach completion 
services. After previously focusing on post-

fracturing plug millouts, we added coiled tubing 
fracturing to our service offering, performing 
both initial treatments and restimulations.

Our XSR division also expanded its footprint in 
2015. We continued our push into West Texas 
in a big way, to the extent that our activity was 
split about evenly between the Permian Basin 
and the Eagle Ford Shale in South Texas. This 
shift in geographical focus is key to both our 
long-range growth plans and utilization in the 
near term, as the Permian is the most active 
basin in the U.S.

The Technology Operators Demand
Long-term contracts kept our XDR division’s 
activity level relatively high through the first half 
of 2015, and its utilization exceeded the industry 
average for the year. While the downturn has 
impacted all contract drillers, there is still some 
demand for the Tier 1 rigs that comprise our 
drilling fleet—averaging less than five years 
old. Their outstanding performance provides 
substantial value to our customers, improving 
their efficiency and reducing production costs. 
Our compact rigs also move in very few loads, a 
major advantage in this market.

International Successes
Our drilling project in India came to a successful 
conclusion at the end of 2015. The two XDR 
rigs deployed there are headed back to the U.S. 
with a substantial demobilization fee—and 
an outstanding performance record, having 
reduced our customer’s drilling time from 15-20 
days per well to about six. Xtreme was proud 
to be named a top five vendor globally for one 
of the world’s largest integrated oilfield service 
providers as a result of that project.

QHSE CERTIFICATIONS

Quality Management 
Systems  
ISO 9001:2008

Occupational Health & 
Safety Management 
Systems  
OHSAS 18001:2007

Environmental 
Management Systems
ISO 14001:2004

Earned by our international 
drilling team in 2015:
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Our two XSR units performing deep horizontal 
re-entry drilling in Saudi Arabia continued to 
produce excellent results for our customer there 
as well. International diversification is one of 
Xtreme’s key differentiators, and both the India 
and Saudi Arabia projects were major reasons 
for our success relative to our peers in 2015.

Controlling Costs
On the financial front, we continued the work we 
began in late 2014 to mitigate the effects of the 
industry slowdown. Among other cost-saving 
measures, we substantially reduced operational 
support and administrative personnel. Our 
capital spending was down by about two-thirds 
compared with 2014, and once again funded 
entirely through our operating cash flow.

PURSUING 
OPPORTUNITIES 
ACROSS THE GLOBE

While commodity prices are expected to remain 
soft in 2016, our fleet will continue to enjoy 
opportunities because of its technological 

sophistication—and the advantages we offer 
customers as a result. Xtreme has even been 
contracted to perform coiled tubing drilling in 
the U.S. for the first time in several years, as 
operators explore a range of options in their 
quest to minimize production costs.

Targeting International Markets
Both our XDR and XSR divisions are aggressively 
pursuing opportunities outside North America 
during the downturn. Internationally, demand 
remains high for technologically advanced 
and highly efficient drilling rigs like ours. In 
particular, we will continue to market our rigs in 
India—leveraging the track record, relationship 
network and infrastructure we built during our 
18-month project. We view Saudi Arabia as a 
natural target market for our coiled tubing units 
based on our ongoing success there.

In 2015, we achieved QHSE excellence with: 

A+ 

0 Lost Time Incidents
0 Recordable Incidents

COILED TUBING RE-ENTRY DRILLING – SAUDI ARABIA
Since project inception in 2010, Xtreme has:

Completed 

100+ 
re-entry wells

Drilled over 

600,000
feet
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Growing Presence in the Permian
In 2016, our XSR division will focus even more 
heavily on the Permian with its expanding suite 
of ultra-deep coiled tubing completion services. 
That side of the business has been remarkably 
resilient, and Texas has a large inventory of 
drilled, uncompleted wells—up to 3,000 by 
some estimates. As operators prepare to bring 
those wells online, we are confident Xtreme  
can capitalize on our growing recognition as  
the market leader.

Well Positioned
Moving forward, our management team will 
continue to apply its skill and experience in 
navigating commodity cycles. We remain 
committed to preserving liquidity and 
deleveraging as long as the decline in oil and 
natural gas prices continues. Accordingly, we 
will reduce capital expenditures in 2016 by 
50% from last year’s levels, focusing primarily 
on maintenance and drawing exclusively on 
operating cash flow.

It is gratifying to see that our efforts to bolster 
the balance sheet are paying off, as our funded 
debt to EBITDA ratio is exemplary among 
publicly traded oilfield service companies. 
That financial strength and the high quality 
of our fleet will see us through the current 
downturn—and position us to thrive when the 
market inevitably rebounds.

Eagle Ford Shale

Permian Basin

“Financial strength and 
the high quality of our 
fleet will see us through 
the current downturn.” 
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis  
 
Management for Xtreme Drilling and Coil Services Corp. (“Xtreme” or the “Company”), based this 
Management’s Discussion and Analysis (“MD&A”) on operating and financial results for the three and 
twelve months ended December 31, 2015, and provides comparative information for the three and twelve 
months ended December 31, 2014. Management recommends reading this discussion and analysis in 
conjunction with the Company’s audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 
31, 2015, and related notes (the “Audited Financial Statements”).  
 
Xtreme’s common shares trade on the Toronto Stock Exchange under the symbol “XDC”. 
 
The Company prepares its consolidated financial statements and comparative information in accordance 
with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”), as issued by the International Accounting 
Standards Board (“IASB”). Unless otherwise stated, all amounts are expressed in Canadian dollars 
(“CAD”).  The information in this MD&A was approved by Xtreme’s board of directors.  This MD&A is 
based on information available as of March 16, 2016, and incorporates all relevant considerations to that 
date. 
 
Advisory Regarding Forward-Looking Information 
 
This MD&A, or documents incorporated herein, contains forward-looking information (“FLI”). FLI is 
typically contained in statements with words such as “anticipate”, “believe”, “estimate”, “expect”, “plan”, 
“schedule”, “intend”, “propose” or similar words suggesting future outcomes or an outlook.  More 
particularly, this MD&A contains FLI that may relate to contracting, marketing, financing, construction, 
modifications, deployment, operation, and utilization of drilling rigs and service units in the Company’s 
current and future fleet. Although Xtreme believes expectations reflected in such FLI are reasonable, 
readers should not place undue reliance on them because Xtreme can give no assurance they will prove 
to be correct. There are many factors that could cause FLI not to be correct, including risks and 
uncertainties inherent in the Company's business. 
 
FLI is based on certain factors and assumptions including, but not limited to: the assessment of current 
and projected future drilling, well servicing and related operations; ongoing and future strategic business 
alliances, negotiations and opportunities to enter new, extend or complete existing contracts; the 
availability and cost of financing; currency exchange rates; timing and magnitude of capital expenditures; 
expenses and other variables affecting rig operation, modification and construction; the ability and 
commitment of vendors to provide rig component equipment, services and supplies, including labor, in a 
cost-effective and timely manner; the issuance of applied-for patents; changes in tax structures and rates; 
and, government regulations. Although Xtreme considers the assumptions used to prepare this MD&A 
reasonable, based on information available to management as of March 16, 2016, ultimately the 
assumptions may prove to be incorrect. 
  
FLI is also subject to certain factors, including risks and uncertainties, which could cause actual results to 
differ materially from management's current expectations. These factors include, but are not limited to: the 
cyclical nature of drilling and well servicing market demand, currency exchange rates and commodity 
prices; access to credit and to equity markets; the availability and retention of qualified personnel; vendor-
provided equipment components and services; and, competition for customers. 
 
Management’s assumptions considered the following: compliance with the terms of the Company’s 
current credit facility; ongoing access to key services, supplies and components required to continue 
operating and maintaining equipment, including fuel; continued successful performance of drilling, well 
servicing and related equipment; expectations regarding gross margin; recruitment and retention of 
qualified personnel; continuation or extension of existing long-term, multi-well contracts or other contracts; 
revenue expectations related to shorter-term drilling and well servicing opportunities; willingness and 
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ability of customers to remit amounts owing to Xtreme in accordance with normal industry practices; and, 
management of accounts receivable in direct relation to revenue generation. 
 
In preparing this MD&A, the following risk factors were considered: fluctuations in crude oil and natural 
gas prices, as well as supply and demand; fluctuation in currency exchange and interest rates; financial 
stability of Xtreme’s customers; current and future applications for Xtreme's proprietary technology; 
related services provided by, and competition from, other drilling and well servicing contractors; regulatory 
and economic conditions in regions where Xtreme operates; environmental constraints; changes to 
government legislation; international trade barriers or restrictions; and, where appropriate, global 
economic, political and military events, as well as acts of terrorism, riots, strikes, insurrections, revolutions 
and civil war. 

FLI contained in this MD&A about prospective results of operations, financial position or cash provided by 
operating activities is based on assumptions about future events, including economic conditions and 
proposed courses of action, and on management’s assessment of relevant information currently 
available. Readers are cautioned such financial outlook information contained in this MD&A is not 
appropriate for purposes other than for which it is disclosed here. Readers should not place undue 
importance on FLI and should not rely on this information as of any other date. Except as required 
pursuant to applicable securities laws, Xtreme disclaims any intention, and assumes no obligation, to 
update publicly or revise FLI to reflect actual results, whether as a result of new information, future 
events, changes in assumptions, changes in factors affecting such FLI or otherwise. 
 
Corporate Overview  
 
Xtreme designs, builds, and operates a fleet of high specification drilling rigs and coiled tubing well 
service units featuring leading-edge proprietary technology including alternating current (“AC”) high 
capacity coil injectors, deep re-entry drilling capability, modular transportation systems, and continuous 
integration of in-house advances in methodologies.  
 
The Company’s head office is located at 770, 340 – 12th Avenue S.W., Calgary, Alberta T2R 1L5 and its 
registered office is located at 4300, 888 – 3rd Street S.W., Calgary, Alberta T2P 5C5. The Company also 
maintains a headquarters in Houston, Texas, has a regional office and yard in Greeley, Colorado, a 
regional office in the City of Luxembourg, Luxembourg, as well as field offices in Mills, Wyoming, 
Jourdanton, Texas, Dammam, the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia (“Saudi Arabia”), and Gurgaon, the Republic 
of India (“India”). Currently, Xtreme operates two service lines, drilling services (“XDR”) and coil services 
(“XSR”), under contracts with oil and natural gas exploration and production companies and integrated 
oilfield service providers in the United States of America (“United States” or “US”), Saudi Arabia, Canada, 
and India.  The Company commenced drilling operations in India in July 2014. 
 
With the Company’s in-house engineering department and commitment to innovation, Xtreme continues 
to introduce new technologies to the industry. The Company holds numerous patents worldwide for both 
drilling technology and transportation techniques that allow for faster rig-up and rig-out. Additionally, 
Xtreme has approximately 16 patent-related applications in progress in the US, Canada and other 
jurisdictions around the world. 
 
Financial and Operating Highlights 
 
The following table summarizes selected financial data for the Company for each of the three most 
recently completed financial years.  The information set forth below should be read in conjunction with the 
consolidated Annual Financial Statements. 
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(Stated in thousands of Canadian dollars, except per share amounts) 

Year ended   Dec 31, 2015 Dec 31, 2014   Dec 31, 2013 

Revenue  221,359 267,441            229,823 

Net (loss) income  (68,344) 589 567 

Net (loss) income per share - basic ($) (0.83) 0.01 0.02 

Net (loss) income per share - diluted ($) (0.83) 0.01 0.02 

Total assets 512,226 547,958 515,720 

Total long-term liabilities   –   128,622   130,003 

 
The following is a summary of selected financial and operating information of the Company for each of 
the eight most recently completed quarters: 
 
(Stated in thousands of Canadian dollars, except per share, utilization, and rig amounts) 
 

 Three months ended Dec 31, 2015 Sep 30, 2015 Jun 30, 2015 Mar 31, 2015 

Revenue 45,438 52,238 53,668 70,015 

Adjusted EBITDA 1 9,911 15,444 15,036 20,761 

Adjusted EBITDA as a percentage of 
revenue 22 30 28 30 

Adjusted EBITDA per share 1 - basic ($) 0.11 0.18 0.18 0.25 

Net (loss) income  (21,728) (48,595) (776) 2,755 

Net (loss) income per share - basic ($) (0.26) (0.59) (0.01) 0.03 

Capital assets 446,417 445,591 473,030 488,300 

Total assets 512,226 528,120 567,050 592,194 

Net debt 2 96,123 93,389 112,133 126,869 

Operating days 1 1,324 1,459 1,451 1,823 

Utilization (percentage) - XDR 48 55 56 73 

Utilization (percentage) - XSR 61 60 61 71 

Utilization (percentage) - Total 51 56 57 73 

Weighted average rigs in service  31.0 30.0 30.0 30.0 

Total rigs, end of quarter  31 31 30 30 
   Dec 31, 2014 Sep 30, 2014 Jun 30, 2014 Mar 31, 2014

Revenue 69,459 65,980 62,299 69,703 

Adjusted EBITDA 1 18,617 18,299 19,421 20,635 
Adjusted EBITDA as a percentage of 
revenue 27 28 31 30 

Adjusted EBITDA per share 1 - basic ($) 0.23 0.22 0.24 0.25 

Net (loss) income  (2,258) 853 (902) 2,896

Net (loss) income per share - basic ($) (0.03) 0.01 (0.01) 0.04 

Capital assets 452,974 443,304 413,296 423,204 

Total assets 547,958 536,713 513,651 532,116 

Net debt 2 115,520 116,768 105,358 125,389 

Operating days 1 2,053 2,173 1,779 2,130 

Utilization (percentage) - XDR 86 92 75 90 

Utilization (percentage) - XSR 74 73 68 78 

Utilization (percentage) - Total 83 88 73 88 

Weighted average rigs in service  28.0 28.0 28.0 28.0 

Total rigs, end of quarter  29 28 28 28 
1 See Non-GAAP measures 
2 Total debt less cash and cash equivalents 
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2015 Analysis  
 
Q1 2015 
 
In the first quarter of 2015, the XDR segment had a decrease from the previous quarter in operating days 
due to three customers terminating their take or pay contracts early.  Early termination revenue 
recognized for these three rigs was approximately $2,900 during the period. The two rigs working in India 
reported high utilization during the quarter.  However, for the Canadian operations, one rig was stacked in 
February 2015 and two rigs were stacked in March 2015.  The US XSR segment had an increase in 
operating days from the previous quarter due to one new-build unit commencing operations during the 
period.  Saudi Arabia revenue was down in the first quarter from the previous quarter due to more move 
days and less operating days.  
 
During the first quarter, the Company made reductions in operational support and administrative 
personnel.  Headcount for indirect operating personnel, as well as general and administrative overhead, 
was decreased by 25 percent and Company recognized approximately $944 of severance expense 
during the period.  The Company also settled a prior legal matter for a cost of $556 in the first quarter of 
2015. 
 
Q2 2015 
 
In the second quarter of 2015, the XDR segment had a decrease in operating days from the previous 
quarter.  The US XDR segment ended the quarter with six rigs stacked.  Two customers terminated their 
take or pay contracts early resulting in approximately $1,000 in early termination revenue.  The Company 
also recognized an additional $2,700 in early termination revenue from two customers relating to first 
quarter terminations that had not been recorded due to uncertainty of payment.  The two customers paid 
the amounts in the second quarter.  In Canada, all three rigs were stacked at the end of the second 
quarter, while the two rigs working in India continued high utilization.  The US XSR segment had a 
decrease in utilization from the previous quarter as a result of fewer operating days and Saudi Arabia 
revenue was up in the second quarter from the previous quarter due to more operating days and less 
move days. 

Q3 2015 
 
In the third quarter of 2015, the XDR segment had a slight decrease in operating days from the second 
quarter of 2015. The US XDR segment ended the quarter with seven stacked rigs.  The Company also 
recognized an additional $4,400 in early termination revenue from three customers relating to first and 
second quarter terminations.  The Canadian XDR segment had two rigs that worked early in the quarter 
and were stacked at the end of the quarter. The two rigs in India continued high utilization.  The US XSR 
segment had an increase in utilization from the previous quarter as a result of increased operating days. 
Saudi Arabia had fewer operating days in the third quarter compared to the previous quarter.  Revenue in 
Saudi Arabia increased from the second quarter primarily due to the impact of exchange rates.  During 
the third quarter, due to the decline in oil and natural gas prices which have resulted in significant 
decreases in industry activity, adversely impacting current and expected future business and estimated 
recoverable amounts, the Company recorded an impairment of property and equipment for the US XDR 
cash generating unit.  

Q4 2015 
 
In the fourth quarter of 2015, the XDR segment had a decrease of 137 operating days from the third 
quarter of 2015. The US XDR segment ended the quarter with nine rigs stacked.  The Company also 
recognized an additional $2,600 in early termination revenue from three customers relating to first and 
second quarter terminations.  All three rigs in Canada were stacked at the end of the fourth quarter.  The 
two rigs in India drilled the final wells in December and commenced winding down operations toward the 
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end of the period.  The US XSR segment operating days and utilization remained consistent with the prior 
quarter.  The Saudi Arabia XSR segment had slightly lower revenue due to more move days.   

2014 Analysis  
 
Q1 2014 
 
In the first quarter of 2014, the Company performed a major overhaul on one rig and minor maintenance 
on two additional rigs, resulting in fewer operating days compared to the previous quarter. In addition, two 
rigs assigned to the India project were taken off-line to allow for the required modifications and upgrades 
for the project and earned stand-by revenue during the latter part of the quarter. The XSR segment 
continued strong performance, with the fourth US XSR unit beginning operations in late January 2014.   

Q2 2014 
 
In the second quarter of 2014, the XDR segment had a decrease in operating days due primarily to 
Canada’s spring break-up period and rigs taken off-line for minor repairs and maintenance.  The two rigs 
assigned to India completed the required upgrades and were mobilized to India, arriving on location at the 
end of the quarter. The US XSR segment had one unit that sustained damage at the end of the first 
quarter, which resulted in decreased revenue.  That unit was idle for the entire quarter while it was being 
repaired.  The Saudi Arabia XSR business maintained strong utilization and margins during the second 
quarter of 2014.  

Q3 2014 
 
In the third quarter of 2014, the XDR segment had an increase in operating days due primarily to the two 
rigs in India commencing operations and the end of Canada’s spring break-up period. The US XSR unit 
damaged in the first quarter of 2014 came back on line in the third quarter, which resulted in increased 
revenue and operating days.   

Q4 2014 
 
In the fourth quarter of 2014, the XDR segment had a decrease in operating days due primarily to two US 
XDR rigs coming offline, offset by the two rigs in India working the entire quarter.  The US XSR segment 
had increased revenue and operating days due to increased utilization coupled with one additional unit 
added at the end of the fourth quarter.  The Saudi Arabia XSR business continued strong performance in 
the fourth quarter of 2014. 
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The charts below represent Operating Days, Revenue, Total Assets, Adjusted EBITDA and Net Income 
(Loss) for the twelve month periods ended December 31, 2013, 2014 and 2015. 

 (Stated in thousands of Canadian dollars, except operating days) 

           
1 See Non-GAAP measures 
 
Industry Conditions 

Drilling activity in the US and Canada has continued to decline during the twelve months of 2015.  The 
number of US rigs exploring for oil and natural gas declined to 489 as of March 4, 2016, down 703 rigs 
from a year ago. In Canada, the rig count was 129 as of March 4, 2016, 171 fewer than a year 
ago.  Internationally, there has been a decline in rig count of about seven percent compared to a year 
ago.   

The Company continues to work closely with its customers both domestically and internationally during 
the downturn in the market.  The Company is committed to: 

 Deliver high quality, high-efficiency services, at competitive pricing; 
 Identify, evaluate and pursue opportunities in international markets where the demand for high-

efficiency units is more active; 
 Maximize efficiency throughout the Company, maintaining an effective and efficient cost structure 

to support the business and operations, while focusing on our personnel and systems; and 
 Manage its liquidity, balance sheet and focus on cash flow. 
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Drilling Services (XDR) 
 
Xtreme is helping operators in major North American resource plays improve their well productivity. The 
deep and complex wells dominating today’s drilling landscape demand fit-for-purpose rigs capable of 
handling the unique challenges these projects present.  
 
Modular transportation systems reduce the time it takes to move in, rig up and rig out from days to just 
hours. Integral skidding systems for multi-well pad drilling offer the on-site mobility required in 
unconventional shale plays. 
 
In the United States, Xtreme contracts to drill primarily in the resource plays of the Williston Basin in North 
Dakota and the Greater Denver-Julesburg Basin in Colorado.  Xtreme’s XDR 300, 400 and 500 rigs are 
designed for these deeper geological zones. In Canada, the XDR 200 rigs work primarily in shallow to 
medium horizontal resource plays in East Central Alberta and West Central Saskatchewan.  Through 
December 2015, two XDR 300 rigs worked in the Rajasthan region in northern India. 

Since October 2014, domestic and international oil prices have declined significantly resulting in a 
downturn in drilling activity.  Lower spec drilling rigs are the most impacted by the industry downturn and 
are typically the first rigs to become idle.  As a result of the decline in oil prices, the Company has 
received early termination notices for five of its 14 drilling rigs that were earning revenues under term 
contracts. The release of these drilling rigs resulted in approximately $13,600 of early termination 
payments which were recognized as revenue for 2015.     

At December 31, 2015, the Company had 11 of 21 drilling rigs working. The two rigs in India drilled the 
final wells in December, commenced winding down operations, and were in the process of being moved 
back to the US.  As of the date of this MD&A, the Company had an active rig count of four drilling rigs 
currently working in Colorado, North Dakota, and the Texas / Oklahoma border region.  In addition to the 
four rigs, one rig in the US was earning standby revenue and the two rigs in India were earning standby 
revenue while in transit to the US.  At March 16, 2015, the two India two rigs were in the Atlantic Ocean 
and are expected to arrive to the port of Houston by the end of March 2016.  

Contracted Days 
 
At December 31, 2015, Xtreme had approximately 980 contracted days for 2016. 
 
Coil Services (XSR) 
 
Xtreme offers deep-reach coiled tubing service units, optimized for operations in deeper shale formations. 
The XSR fleet is currently providing services on extended-reach lateral wells primarily in the Eagle Ford 
and Permian Basins. In the second quarter of 2015, one unit was deployed in Louisiana and one unit was 
deployed in New Mexico. All XSR coil tubing units are equipped with AC electric injector heads and 
proprietary electronic PLC systems, including X-Mill™ real-time milling software.  
 
During the second quarter of 2014, the Company commenced construction of two units.  In addition, 
during the second quarter of 2014, the Company announced a $54 million capital expansion program that 
would have increased the XSR coil services fleet by six units.  The first three units were delivered in 
December 2014, January 2015, April 2015, respectively.  This brought the total US XSR coiled tubing 
fleet working in Texas to eight units as of December 31, 2015. Based on current market conditions, 
Xtreme made the decision to defer the construction of the remaining three new XSR units under the 
capital expansion program.  
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In Saudi Arabia, Xtreme has two coiled tubing units deployed on a deep horizontal re-entry drilling project, 
which are critical to overall reserves recovery. The target re-entry wells are deep and technically 
challenging, have multi-lateral well profiles and require under-balanced drilling.  
 
At December 31, 2015 and as of the date of the MD&A, the Company had four of the eleven coil services 
units working.  
 
Total Fleet by Model 
 
The following table summarizes the fleet by model as of March 16, 2016. 

Model  Drilling Rigs Coil Service Units 

XSR 200  8 

XSR 200 Plus  3 

XDR 200 4  

XDR 300 4  

XDR 400 2  

XDR 500 11  

21 11 

 
2015 Capital Program 

The Company previously anticipated capital expenditures for 2015 to be approximately $60,000 and 
subsequently decreased it to $23,000.  The Company later reduced the 2015 capital expenditures to 
$21,000. The decrease is due to the curtailment of the capital expansion program for XSR and reduced 
activity levels for the drilling fleet. During the three and twelve months ended December 31, 2015, capital 
expenditures amounted to $2,700 and $20,000, respectively, primarily related to the completion of two out 
of four XSR units.   
 
Utilization 
 
Utilization rates are a key statistic for the drilling industry since they measure revenue volume and 
influence pricing. During the three and twelve months ended December 31, 2015, Xtreme achieved 1,324 
and 6,057 operating days, respectively, which corresponded to an average utilization rate of 57 percent 
and 59 percent, respectively. The drilling services rigs had utilization of 48 percent and 61 percent during 
the three and twelve months ended December 31, 2015, respectively. Standby revenue is taken into 
account in Xtreme’s utilization statistic. The coil services units had utilization of 61 percent and 63 percent 
during the three and twelve months ended December 31, 2015, respectively. Xtreme calculates utilization 
rates based upon drilling rigs and coil service units available for service.  

Impairment 

The Company reviews the carrying value of its long-lived assets at each reporting period for indicators of 
impairment. During the period ended December 31, 2015, the decline in oil and natural gas prices 
resulted in significant decreases in industry activity, adversely impacting current and expected future 
business and estimated recoverable amounts and was an indicator of impairment in the four of the 
Company’s cash generating units (“CGUs”) – US Drilling Services and India Drilling Services.   

During the year the decline in oil and natural gas prices resulted in significant decreases in the drilling and 
service rig industry activity, adversely impacting current and expected future business and estimated 
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recoverable amounts and as a result, there were indicators of impairment for the Company’s Drilling and 
Coil Services CGUs.  

The recoverable amount of each CGU was determined using the higher of fair value less cost of disposal 
(“FVLCD”) or value-in-use (“VIU”). FVLCD was established with reference to a valuation completed by an 
independent third party valuation expert and comparable transactions in the market.  Value in use was 
determined using a pre-tax discounted cash flow model. The cash flow projections were based on future 
expected outcomes taking into account past experience and management expectation of future market 
conditions. Key assumptions included future rig utilization rates, rig day rates, discount rate and other 
costs of operating drilling and coil service rigs. 

As a result of the indicators, the Company performed a comprehensive assessment of the carrying values 
of property and equipment.  The recoverable amount of each CGU was calculated using FVLCD 
determined by an independent valuation report and comparable market transactions. As a result of the 
impairment test, the Company determined that property and equipment in the US Drilling Services CGU 
and India Drilling Services CGU was impaired by approximately $33,000 and $5,500 respectively using 
FVLCD. This impairment expense is included within Depreciation and Impairment of Property and 
Equipment on the consolidated statement of Loss (Income).  The recoverable amounts of US Drilling 
Services CGU and India Drilling Services CGU were $193,500 and $25,500 respectively. 

The fair value of each CGU was categorized as Level 3 fair value based on the unobservable inputs 
used.  

Patents 
 
At March 16, 2016, Xtreme held 42 patents related to technologies for drilling with coiled tubing and 
conventional drill pipe as well as for certain rig and equipment transportation methods. These patents 
have been issued in the United States, Canada, Eurasia, Mexico, Indonesia, Australia, and Russia. 
Xtreme has approximately 16 patent-related applications in progress in the United States, Canada and 
other worldwide jurisdictions.  

Contingencies  
 
The Company is subject to income taxes in Canada, the US and numerous foreign jurisdictions. 
Significant judgment is required in evaluating tax positions and determining the provision for income 
taxes. During the ordinary course of business, there are many transactions and calculations for which the 
ultimate tax determination is uncertain. The Company establishes reserves for tax-related uncertainties 
based on estimates of whether, and the extent to which, additional taxes will be due. These reserves are 
established when the Company believes that certain positions might be challenged despite our belief that 
the Company’s tax return positions are fully supportable. The Company adjusts these reserves in light of 
changing facts and circumstances, such as the outcome of tax audits. The provision for income taxes 
includes the impact of reserve provisions and changes to reserves that are considered 
appropriate.  While fully supportable in the Company’s view, some of these positions, including uncertain 
tax positions, if challenged may not be fully sustained on review. 

In July 2015, the Company received a resolution of tax deficiency, or resolución determinante de un 
crédito fiscal, from the Servicio de Administracion Tributaria (“SAT”), the federal Mexican taxation 
authorities, in connection with the 2009 federal tax return filed by the Company’s subsidiary.  The total 
amount of the assessment, including tax, penalty and interest, is approximately 606 million Mexican 
pesos (approximately $48 million CAD).  The SAT is mainly contesting the deductibility of certain 
expenses under Mexican tax law on the basis that those expenditures were not “strictly necessary” in the 
undertaking of the subsidiary’s operations during that period.  Based on the review of the resolution of tax 
deficiency, the SAT is contending that such expenses have not been supported by evidentiary matter or 
sufficient explanations to support the basis of “strictly necessary”.  
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The Company strongly disagrees with the SAT’s position and will vigorously contest the resolution of tax 
deficiency.  In August 2015, with the assistance of an external Mexican legal counsel, the Company filed 
an administrative claim with the SAT.  Although the Company cannot predict or provide assurance as to 
the ultimate outcome, management believes that it has sufficient documentation to support the 
deductibility of the expenses under Mexican tax law. 

Results of Operations Year-to-Date: 2015 compared to 2014 

Twelve months ended 

  Dec 31, 2015 Dec 31, 2014 Change % Change 

Revenue 221,359 267,441 (46,082) (17) 

Operating expenses 141,211 174,201 (32,990) (19) 

Gross margin1 80,148 93,240 (13,042) (14) 

Operating days 6,057 8,135 (2,078) (26) 

Revenue per operating day 36.5 32.9 3.6 11 

Operating expenses per operating day 23.3 21.4 1.9 9 

Gross margin per operating day 13.2 11.5 1.7 15 

Rig utilization (percentage) – XDR 58 86 (28) (33) 

Rig utilization (percentage) – XSR 63 74 (11) (15) 

Rig utilization (percentage) – Total 59 83 (24) (29) 
1 See Non-GAAP measures 
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(Stated in thousands of Canadian dollars, except operating days) 
 

 

Revenue decreased to $221,359 in 2015 from $267,441 in 2014, primarily driven by a decrease in 
operating days and utilization in the US and Canadian XDR segments, offset by early termination 
revenues in the US XDR segment of approximately $13,600 and the favorable impact of the exchange 
rate for the US-dollar denominated revenues.   

The Company achieved 6,057 operating days in 2015 compared to 8,135 in 2014. The decrease was 
primarily the result of the termination of contracts for the US XDR segment due to the current economic 
environment and a decline in operating days for the Canadian XDR segment, offset by an increase in 
operating days for US XSR due to two additional units working during the period.  

The average revenue per operating day increased to $36.5 in 2015 from $32.9 in 2014.  Exclusive of the 
early termination revenues of $13,600 recorded in the twelve months ended December 31, 2015, average 
revenue per day would have been $34.3, an increase of four percent from the twelve months ended 
December 31, 2014. The increase is primarily due to the favorable impact of the exchange rate for US-
dollar (“USD”) denominated revenue.  

XDR revenue for the twelve months ended December 31, 2015, was $131,214 compared to $183,718 for 
the twelve months ended December 31, 2014. XSR revenue for the twelve months ended December 31, 
2015, was $90,145 compared to $83,723 for the twelve months ended December 31, 2014. Rig utilization 
for XDR was 61 percent for the twelve months ended December 31, 2015, compared to 86 percent for the 
twelve months ended December 31, 2014. Rig utilization for XSR was 64 percent for the twelve months 
ended December 31, 2015, compared to 74 percent for the twelve months ended December 31, 2014.   
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Operating expenses were $141,211 for the twelve months ended December 31, 2015.  Included in 
operating expenses for the twelve months ended December 31, 2015, is approximately $944 of 
severance expense and a cost of $556 for settlement of a prior legal matter. Exclusive of these two items, 
operating expenses would have been $139,711, a decrease from $174,201 for the twelve months ended 
December 31, 2014.  The decrease in total operating expenses was the result of a decrease in labor-
related costs and mobilization expense, offset by the unfavorable impact of the exchange rate for US-
dollar denominated expenses in 2015. Operating expenses are tied to activity levels and were $23.3 per 
operating day for the twelve months ended December 31, 2015, compared to $21.4 per operating day for 
the twelve months ended December 31, 2014. Exclusive of the severance and settlement of a prior legal 
matter, operating expenses per day would have been $23.1 for the twelve months ended December 31, 
2015, an eight percent increase from the twelve months ended December 31, 2014.  

Operating expenses for XDR were $82,307 for the twelve months ended December 31, 2015, compared 
to $125,229 for the twelve months ended December 31, 2014.  Operating expenses for XSR for the 
twelve months ended December 31, 2015 were $58,904 compared to $48,972 for the twelve months 
ended December 31, 2014.   

Gross margin was $80,148 for 2015, down from $93,240 in 2014.  The decrease in gross margin was due 
primarily to a decrease in revenue, offset by lower operating expenses for the twelve months ended 
December 31, 2015. The gross margin per operating day increased to $13.2 for the twelve months ended 
December 31, 2015, from $11.5 for the twelve months ended December 31, 2014, due to early 
termination revenues, lower labor-related costs and mobilization expenses, and the favorable impact of 
exchange rates for the twelve months ended December 31, 2015.  

The month-end exchange rate used to translate the USD denominated assets and liabilities to CAD was 
1.384 at December 31, 2015, 1.3345 at September 30, 2015, 1.249 at June 30, 2015, 1.2666 at March 
31, 2015, and 1.1601 at December 31, 2014. The average exchange rate used to translate the USD 
denominated revenues and expenses for the twelve months ended December 31, 2015, and year ended 
December 31, 2014, was 1.37 and 1.26, respectively.  

General and Administrative (“G&A”) Expenses  

Twelve months ended 

  Dec 31, 2015 Dec 31, 2014 % Change 

G&A expenses 18,996 16,268 17

 

G&A expenses increased to $18,996  in 2015 from $16,268 in 2014, due primarily to a provision for 
doubtful accounts of approximately $997, higher professional fees related to transaction costs, employee 
matters, and the Mexico tax matter, and the unfavorable impact of exchange rates, offset by a decrease 
in travel and promotion expenses. G&A expenses represented 8.6 percent and 6.1 percent of total 
revenue for the twelve months ended December 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively.  

 
Depreciation, Impairment, and Amortization 

Twelve months ended 

  Dec 31, 2015 Dec 31, 2014 % Change 

Depreciation, impairment,  and amortization 98,135 56,462 74 

 
The increase in depreciation, impairment, and amortization to $98,135 in 2015 from $56,462 in 2014 is 
primarily due to an impairment charge taken during the year, a result of significant decreases in industry 
activity due to the decline in oil and gas prices and its impact on current and future business and 
estimated recoverable amounts.  
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Stock-Based Compensation 

Twelve months ended 

  Dec 31, 2015 Dec 31, 2014 % Change 

Stock-based compensation  - Options 311 459 (32) 

Stock-based compensation – RSUs 2,820 2,594 9 

Stock-based compensation - Total 3,131 3,053 3 

 
Stock-based compensation was $3,131 for 2015, an increase from $3,053 in 2014.  The increase is due 
primarily to the unfavorable impact of exchange rates on expenses during the period.  
 
Foreign Exchange 

Twelve months ended 

  Dec 31, 2015 Dec 31, 2014 % Change 

Foreign exchange loss 2,205 262 n/a 

 
Foreign exchange gains and losses result directly from the fluctuation in values of the USD relative to the 
CAD on the assets and liabilities denominated in USD. Operations in the United States, Saudi Arabia and 
India are denominated primarily in USD.  
 
For the twelve months ended December 31, 2015, the Company recorded a foreign exchange loss of 
$2,205 compared to the foreign exchange loss of $262 for the twelve months ended December 31, 2014. 
 
Interest Expense   

Twelve months ended 

  Dec 31, 2015 Dec 31, 2014 % Change 

Interest expense  4,502 4,572 (2) 

 
Interest expense was $4,502 for the twelve months ended December 31, 2015, compared to $4,572 for 
the twelve months ended December 31, 2014. The decrease is due to lower average debt balances 
during the period, offset by the unfavorable impact of exchange rates in 2015. The effective interest rate 
for the twelve months ended December 31, 2015, was 3.9 percent, compared to 3.6 percent for the 
twelve months ended December 31, 2014.  

Loss (Income) Before Tax  

Twelve months ended 

  Dec 31, 2015 Dec 31, 2014 % Change 

Loss (income) before tax (47,487) 8,203 n/a

 
Loss before tax was $47,487 in 2015, a decrease from income before tax of $8,203 recorded in the prior 
year period. The decrease is due primarily to the impairment of property and equipment and decrease in 
revenue, offset by a decrease in operating expenses and lower loss on disposal of equipment.  

Income Tax  

Twelve months ended 

  Dec 31, 2015 Dec 31, 2014 % Change 

Income tax expense 20,857 7,614 n/a 

 
The increase in income tax expense from the prior year is due primarily to the provision for deferred 
income tax assets, principally tax loss carry forwards and tax credits, that are not expected to be realized 
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by the Company at December 31, 2015. Income tax expense is recognized based on management‘s best 
estimate of the weighted average annual income tax expected for the full financial year and also includes 
charges for discrete items, such as withholding taxes, which are not based on income.  The estimated 
average annual tax rate used to estimate tax expense based on income in the respective jurisdictions 
was 25 percent for the year ended December 31, 2014, and 26 percent for the year ended December 31, 
2015.  The effective tax rate, inclusive of the discrete items and impact of deferred taxes, was 93 percent 
for the year ended December 2014, and 44 percent for the year ended December 31, 2015.       

Net (loss) Income  

Twelve months ended 

  Dec 31, 2015 Dec 31, 2014 % Change 

Net (loss) income (68,344) 589 n/a

  
Net loss for the twelve months ended December 31, 2015, was $68,344, a decrease from net income of 
$589 recorded in the twelve months ended December 31, 2014. The decrease between the respective 
periods is due to the impairment of property and equipment, decrease in revenue, and increase in tax 
expense, offset by a decrease in operating expense, and increase in gain on disposal of equipment.  
 
Results of Operations: Q4 2015 compared to Q4 2014 
 

Three months ended 

  Dec 31, 2015 Dec 31, 2014 Change % Change 

Revenue 45,438 69,459 (24,021) (35) 

Operating expenses 30,157 46,649 (16,429) (35) 

Gross margin1 15,281 22,810 (7,592) (33) 

Operating days 1,324 2,053 (729) (36) 

Revenue per operating day 34.3 33.8 0.5 1 

Operating expenses per operating day 22.8 22.7 0.1 0 

Gross margin per operating day 11.5 11.1 0.4 4 

Rig utilization (percentage) – XDR 48 86 (38) (44) 

Rig utilization (percentage) – XSR 61 76 (15) (20) 

Rig utilization (percentage) – Total 51 83 (32) (39) 

1 See Non-GAAP measures 
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(Stated in thousands of Canadian dollars, except operating days) 
 

 

Revenue decreased to $45,438 in the three months ended December 31, 2015, from $69,459 in the three 
months ended December 31, 2014, primarily driven by a decrease in operating days and utilization in the 
US and Canadian XDR segments, offset by early termination revenues in the US XDR segment of 
approximately $2,600 and the favorable impact of the exchange rate for the US-dollar denominated 
revenues.   

The Company achieved 1,324 operating days for the three months ended December 31, 2015, compared 
to 2,053 for the three months ended December 31, 2014. The decrease was primarily the result of the 
termination of contracts for the US XDR segment due to the current economic environment and a decline 
in operating days for the Canadian XDR segment.  
 
The average revenue per operating day increased to $34.3 in the fourth quarter of 2015 from $33.8 in the 
fourth quarter of 2014, mainly due the favorable impact of increased rates for the US and Saudi Arabia 
coil services segment and the result of the impact of foreign exchange on revenue.   
 
The average revenue per operating day increased to $34.3 for the three months ended December 31, 
2015, from $33.8 from the three months ended December 31, 2014. Exclusive of the early termination 
revenues of $2,600 recorded in the fourth quarter of 2015, average revenue per day would have been 
$32.4, a decrease of four percent from the three months ended December 31, 2014.  The decrease is 
primarily due lower day rates, offset by the favorable impact of the exchange rate for US-dollar 
denominated revenue.  
 
XDR revenue for the three months ended December 31, 2015, was $23,370 compared to $46,381 for the 
three months ended December 31, 2014. XSR services revenue for the three months ended December 
31, 2015, was $22,068 compared to $23,078 for the three months ended December 31, 2014. Rig 

 ‐

 200

 400

 600

 800

 1,000

 1,200

 1,400

 1,600

 1,800

 2,000
2
0
1
3

2
0
1
4

2
0
1
5

Three Months Operating Days

XDR

XSR

 ‐

 5,000

 10,000

 15,000

 20,000

 25,000

 30,000

 35,000

 40,000

 45,000

 50,000

2
0
1
3

2
0
1
4

2
0
1
5

Three Months Revenue (000's)

XDR

XSR

 ‐

 2,000

 4,000

 6,000

 8,000

 10,000

 12,000

 14,000

 16,000

 18,000

2
0
1
3

2
0
1
4

2
0
1
5

Three Months  Gross Margin1

(000's)

XDR

XSR

19



Xtreme Drilling and Coil Services Corp.   
For the year ended December 31, 2015    March 16, 2016  

Management’s Discussion and Analysis  
($ in thousands of Canadian dollars, except where indicated)  

  

 

utilization for XDR was 48 percent for the three months ended December 31, 2015, compared to 86 
percent for the three months ended December 31, 2014. Rig utilization for XSR was 61 percent for the 
three months ended December 31, 2015, compared to 76 percent for the three months ended December 
31, 2014.   

Operating expenses decreased to $30,157 for the three months ended December 31, 2015, from $46,649 
for the three months ended December 31, 2014. The decrease in total operating expenses was the result 
of a decrease in labor-related costs and mobilization expense, offset by the unfavorable impact of the 
exchange rate for US-dollar denominated expenses in 2015. Operating expenses are tied to activity 
levels and were $22.8 per operating day for the three months ended December 31, 2015, compared to 
$22.7 per operating day for the three months ended December 31, 2014.   
 
Operating expenses for XDR were $15,921 for the three months ended December 31, 2015 compared to 
$33,270 for the three months ended December 31, 2014.  Operating expenses for XSR for the three 
months ended December 31, 2015 were $14,266 compared to $13,379 for the three months ended 
December 31, 2014.  

Gross margin was $15,281  for the fourth quarter of 2015, down from $22,810 in the fourth quarter of 
2014.  The decrease in gross margin was a result of a decrease in revenues, offset by the favorable 
impact of the exchange rate in 2015 and lower operating expenses. The gross margin per operating day 
increased from $11.1 in the fourth quarter of 2014 to $11.5 in the fourth quarter of 2015. 
 
General and Administrative (“G&A”) Expenses  

Three months ended 

  Dec 31, 2015 Dec 31, 2014 % Change 

G&A expenses 5,340 4,193 27

 
G&A expenses increased to $5,340 for the three months ended December 31, 2015, from $4,193 for the 
three months ended December 31, 2014, due primarily to an increase in provision for doubtful accounts, 
higher professional fees related to transaction costs, employee matters, and the Mexico tax matter, and 
the unfavorable impact of the exchange rate on expenses. G&A expenses represented 11.7 percent and 
6.0 percent of total revenue for the three months ended December 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively.  
 
Depreciation, Impairment, and Amortization 
 

Three months ended 

  Dec 31, 2015 Dec 31, 2014 % Change 

Depreciation, impairment, and amortization 9,621 18,152 (47) 

 
The decrease in depreciation and amortization to $9,621 in the fourth quarter of 2015 from $18,152 in the 
fourth quarter of 2014 is mostly attributable to certain assets and components that were subjected to 
accelerated depreciation in the fourth quarter of 2014. 
 
Stock-Based Compensation 

Three months ended 

  Dec 31, 2015 Dec 31, 2014 % Change 

Stock-based compensation  - Options 60 98 (39) 

Stock-based compensation – RSUs 839 769 99 

Stock-based compensation - Total 899 867 4 
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Stock-based compensation was $899 for the fourth quarter of 2015, an increase from $867 in the fourth 
quarter of 2014.  The increase is due primarily to the unfavorable impact of exchange rates on expenses. 
 
Foreign Exchange 

Three months ended 

  Dec 31, 2015 Dec 31, 2014 % Change 

Foreign exchange loss  1,843 63 n/a 

 
Foreign exchange gains and losses result directly from the fluctuation in values of the USD relative to the 
CAD on the assets and liabilities denominated in USD. Operations in the United States, Saudi Arabia, 
and India are denominated primarily in USD.  
 
For the three months ended December 31, 2015, the Company recorded a foreign exchange loss of 
$1,843 compared to the foreign exchange loss of $63 for the three months ended December 31, 2014. 
 
Interest Expense   

Three months ended 

  Dec 31, 2015 Dec 31, 2014 % Change 

Interest expense  1,036 1,228 (16) 

 
Interest expense was $1,036 for the three months ended December 31, 2015, compared to $1,228 for the 
three months ended December 31, 2014. The decrease is primarily due to lower average debt balances 
during the period, offset by the unfavorable impact of exchange rates in 2015. The effective interest rate 
for the three months ended December 31, 2015 and 2014 was 3.9 percent.   

Loss Before Tax  

Three months ended 

  Dec 31, 2015 Dec 31, 2014 % Change 

Loss before tax (15,238) (1,771) n/a

 
Loss before tax was $15,238 for the fourth quarter of 2015, an increase from loss before tax of $1,771 
recorded in the fourth quarter of 2014. The increase is due primarily to decrease in revenue, offset by a 
decrease in operating expenses and increase in gain on disposal of equipment. 
 

Income Tax  

Three months ended 

  Dec 31, 2015 Dec 31, 2014 % Change 

Income tax expense  17,219 487 n/a

 
The increase in income tax expense from the prior year is due primarily to the provision for deferred 
income tax assets, principally tax loss carry forwards and tax credits, that are not expected to be realized 
by the Company at December 31, 2015. For the three months ended December 31, 2015, income tax 
expense is recognized based on management‘s best estimate of the weighted average annual income tax 
expected for the full financial year and also includes charges for discrete items, such as withholding taxes 
and tax contingencies, which are not based on income.  The estimated average annual tax rate used to 
estimate tax expense based on income in the respective jurisdictions was 25 percent for the year ended 
December 31, 2014, and 26 percent for the year ended December 31, 2015.  The effective tax rate, 
inclusive of the discrete items and impact of deferred taxes, was 27 percent for the year ended December 
2014, and 113 percent for the year ended December 31, 2015.    
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 Net Loss 

Three months ended 

  Dec 31, 2015 Dec 31, 2014 % Change 

Net loss (32,458) (2,258) n/a

  
Net loss for the fourth quarter of 2015 was $32,458, an increase from net loss of $2,258 for the fourth 
quarter of 2014. The increase between the respective periods is due primarily to the decrease in revenue, 
increase in tax expense, offset by a decrease in operating expenses.  
 
Financial Position 
 
The following table outlines significant changes in the consolidated statement of financial position from 
December 31, 2014 to December 31, 2015: 
 

  Change Explanation 

Cash and cash equivalents (1,879)

Decrease due to funds from operations of 
approximately $70,000 offset by capital 
expenditures of approximately $20,000 and the 
payment of long-term debt of approximately 
$51,500. 

Accounts receivable and other 
receivables (11,258)

Decrease due to cash receipts as well as lower 
billings during the period because of lower activity 
levels. 

Inventory (2,712)

Decrease due to consumption, a decrease in 
purchases as a result of decreased activity, and the 
write-down of obsolete inventory. 

Property and equipment (6,557)

Decrease due to the impairment of property and 
equipment of approximately $38,500 and 
depreciation expense of approximately $59,300, 
offset by the impact of the exchange rate of 
approximately $64,900 as well as capital 
expenditures of approximately $20,000 during the 
period. 

Accounts payable and accrued  
liabilities (10,009)

Decrease due to payments made to vendors during 
the period and decreased operating activity. 

Long-term debt (21,276)

Decrease due to payments made in 2015 of $37,000 
USD ($51,500 CAD) and $2,000 CAD, offset by the 
unrealized gain on foreign currency translation of 
approximately $23,000. 

Shareholders’ equity (5,260)
Decrease due to the net loss for the period as well 
as the impact of foreign currency translation. 
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(Stated in thousands of Canadian dollars) 

      
 
Financial Condition, Liquidity and Capital Resources 
 
($ millions of Canadian dollars)  Dec 31, 2015 Dec 31, 2014 % Change 

Total debt (including amounts outstanding under the 
operating line) 107,346 128,622 (17) 

Less: cash and cash equivalents  11,223 13,102 (14) 

Net debt 1 96,123 115,520 (17) 
1 See Non-GAAP measures 

Net debt as of December 31, 2015, was $96,123, reflecting a decrease of $19,397 from net debt of 
$115,520 as of December 31, 2014. Xtreme’s debt is denominated in USD. The decrease in net debt was 
primarily due to cash payments of $51,465 ($37,000 USD and $2,000 CAD) on long-term debt during 
twelve months ended December 31, 2015, offset by the unrealized loss on foreign currency translation of 
$23,073. 
 
For the twelve months ended December 31, 2015, the Company generated approximately $70,000 in 
funds from operations, utilized primarily for the payment of long-term debt ($51,500), payment of foreign 
taxes ($8,500), and for capital expenditures made during the period ($20,000).  
 
Bank Indebtedness 
 
On December 27, 2013, the Company reached an agreement with a syndicate of financial institutions led 
by Wells Fargo to enter into a new senior credit facility for $150,000 (the “Credit Agreement”).  The Credit 
Agreement consists of a revolving credit facility of $140,000, denominated in USD, and a $10,000 
revolving credit facility, available in CAD and/or USD. The Credit Agreement is due in full on December 
27, 2016. The Credit Agreement is secured by property and equipment and inventory held in Canada and 
the United States, as well as cash and trade receivables in Canada and the United States of 
approximately $27,932 CAD at December 31, 2015.  At December 31, 2015, the Company had 
outstanding $78,000 USD under the Credit Agreement. All outstanding debt is classified as current in the 
statement of financial position. 
 
On December 31, 2014, the Company entered into an agreement with the syndicate of lenders to amend 
certain defined terms in the Credit Agreement, primarily the definition of “maintenance capital 
expenditures” and clarifying the definition for the calculation of the interest coverage ratio.  The 
amendment to the Credit Agreement did not modify the existing payment terms, amounts, or interest 
rates under the original Credit Agreement.   
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As of December 31, 2015, the Company was in compliance with the debt covenants under the Credit 
Agreement as follows: 
 

Dec 31, 2015 Dec 31, 2014 Threshold 

Leverage ratio 1.79:1 1.70:1 3.00:1 maximum 

Interest coverage ratio 12.00:1 11.29:1 3.00:1 minimum 

 
During the three and twelve months ended December 31, 2015 and 2014, the Company recognized 
interest expense of $1,036 and $4,502 and $1,228 and $4,572, respectively, on its outstanding 
borrowings during the respective periods. The effective annual interest on borrowings was approximately 
3.9 percent for the three and twelve months ended December 31, 2015 (approximately 3.6 percent for the 
year ended December 31, 2014). 

Subsequent to the year ended December 31, 2015, the Company reached an agreement with a syndicate 
of financial institutions to enter into an amended and restated senior credit facility for $90,000 USD. The 
new credit facility consists of a revolving credit facility of $78,000 denominated in USD, and a $12,000 
USD-equivalent revolving credit facility, available in CAD and/or USD.  The amended facility extends the 
maturity of the current outstanding debt from December 27, 2016, to January 2, 2018, and will assist with 
financing general corporate and working capital requirements and provide working capital for capital 
expenditures.  Among other changes, the amended and restated facility increases the leverage ratio to 
not be above 3.00 to 1.00 through the quarter ending March 31, 2016, to 3.25 to 1.00 through the quarter 
ending June 30, 2017, and 3.00 to 1.00 thereafter. 
 
Liquidity Risks 

See “Business Risks and Uncertainties” below for a discussion of the Company’s liquidity risks. 

Capital Expenditures and Commitments 
 

Three months ended Twelve months ended 

($ thousands of Canadian 
dollars) Dec 31, 2015 Dec 31, 2014 % Change Dec 31, 2015 Dec 31, 2014 % Change 

Capital expenditures 2,745 11,152 n/a 19,987 65,255 n/a 

 

Capital expenditures for the three and twelve months ended December 31, 2015, were $2,745 and 
$19,987, respectively, a decrease from capital expenditures of $11,152 and $65,255 during the three and 
twelve months ended December 31, 2014, respectively.  The decrease of $8,407 from the prior year 
quarter was primarily due to the winding down of the XSR capital expansion program. 

($ thousands of Canadian dollars) Dec 31, 2015 Dec 31, 2014     % Change 

Commitments 2,842 7,555 (62) 

 
Commitments as of December 31, 2015, were $2,842, a decrease from $7,555 as of December 31, 2014, 
primarily due to the completion of two of the three US XSR units during the period. All commitments are 
expected to be paid within the next twelve months. The Company anticipates that the outstanding 
commitments will be funded exclusively through operating cash flow. 
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Twelve months 

ended 
Twelve months 

ended 

Commitments Dec 31, 2015 Dec 31, 2014 

XDR upgrades and modifications 1,224 240 

XSR capital expansion 997 2,885 

XSR upgrades and modifications  77 23 

Capital spares 544 4,407 

Total 2,842 7,555 

 
Contractual Obligations 
 
The table below illustrates various contractual obligations which Xtreme expects to repay, including any 
interest payments required. 
 

 
Less than 1 1 – 3 4 –5 After 5 

Contractual obligations Total 1 Year 1-3 Years 4-5 Years 5+ Years 

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 29,729 29,729 – – – 

Current portion of long-term debt 112,137 112,137 – – – 

Commitments 2,842 2,842 – – – 

Operating leases 2,821 1,507 1,314 – – 

Total contractual obligations 147,529 146,215 1,314 – – 

 
Segmented Information 
 
The Company determines its operating segments based on internal information regularly reviewed by 
chief operating decision-maker to allocate resources and assess performance.  The tables below 
segment Xtreme’s revenue, income (loss) before tax, assets and liabilities by service line and geographic 
area: 
 

 “Drilling Services” represents assets, revenue and expenses associated with the fleet of high 
specification drilling rigs contracted with oil and natural gas exploration and production 
companies and integrated oilfield service providers, exclusive of general and administrative 
costs, depreciation and amortization expense, impairment losses, interest expense, realized 
and unrealized foreign exchange gains and losses, and employee incentive compensation 
changes.  These drilling rigs are designed for deeper geological zones.   

 
 “Coil Services” represents the assets, revenue and expenses, exclusive of general and 

administrative costs, depreciation and amortization expense, impairment losses, interest 
expense, realized and unrealized foreign exchange gains and losses, and employee incentive 
compensation changes. Xtreme’s coiled tubing well service units target primarily post fracture 
treatment cleanouts, re-entry, and horizontal drilling.   

 
 “Corporate and Other” represents the general and administrative costs of the Company, 

depreciation and amortization expense, impairment losses, interest expense, realized and 
unrealized foreign exchange gains and losses, and employee incentive compensation 
charges.  The Company views its corporate segment as a support function that provides 
assistance to more than one segment. 
 

 “United States”, “Canada”, “Saudi Arabia”, and “India” represents assets and revenue 
associated with operations in these respective geographic areas. 
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Drilling 
Services Coil Services 

Corporate and 
Other Total 

For the year ended December 31, 2015   

   Revenue 131,215 90,144 – 221,359 

   Segment profit 48,907 31,241 (127,635) (47,487) 

   Total assets 320,848 163,448 27,930 512,226 

   Total liabilities 16,653 10,707 113,633 140,993 

   Intangible assets – – 3,310 3,310 

   Capital additions 4,976 14,491 520 19,987 
 

For the year ended December 31, 2015 
  

 

   Corporate and Other: 
  

 

   General and administrative expenses 
  

(18,996) 

   Depreciation, impairment, and amortization 
  

(98,135) 

   Stock-based compensation 
  

(3.131) 

   Foreign exchange loss 
  

(2.205) 

   Loss on disposal of equipment 
  

(667) 

   Other income 
  

1 

   Interest expense 
  

(4,502) 

    
  

(127,635) 

 

  
United 
States Canada 

Saudi 
Arabia India Total 

For the year ended December 31, 2015    

   Revenue 156,908 2,719 36,930 24,801 221,359 

   Total assets 392,287 32,992 51,828 35,119 512,226 
  

Drilling 
Services Coil Services 

Corporate and 
Other Total 

For the year ended December 31, 2014   

   Revenue 183,718 83,723 – 267,441 

   Segment profit 58,489 34,751 (85,037) 8,203 

   Total assets 378,392 123,850 45,716 547,958 

   Total liabilities 20,169 17,593 133,703 171,465 

   Intangible assets – – 3,613 3,613 

   Capital additions 41,432 22,435 1,388 65,255 
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For the year ended December 31, 2015 
  

 

   Corporate and Other: 
  

 

   General and administrative expenses 
  

(16,268) 

   Depreciation, impairment, and amortization 
  

(56,462) 

   Stock-based compensation 
  

(3,053) 

   Foreign exchange loss  
  

(262) 

   Loss on disposal of equipment 
  

(4,399) 

   Other expense 
  

(21) 

   Interest expense 
  

(4,572) 

    
  

(85,037) 

 
 
 

United 
States Canada 

Saudi 
Arabia India Total 

For the year ended December 31, 2014    

   Revenue 201,107 15,018 35,208 16,108 267,441 

   Total assets 395,006 60,046 52,526 40,380 547,958 
 
Outstanding Common Shares 

Dec 31, 2015 Dec 31, 2014 

Balance, beginning of period 82,286,723 81,265,732 

Employee options exercised 76,667 677,729 

Restricted stock units vested 744,147 343,262 

Balance, end of period 83,107,537 82,286,723 

 
At December 31, 2015, Xtreme had outstanding options to purchase 1,668,669 common shares 
(December 31, 2014 – 2,626,671) at a weighted average exercise price of $3.21 per share (December 
31, 2014 – $3.12). 
 
The Company’s Incentive and Retention Plan is designed to provide the Company’s directors, officers 
and key employees and consultants with an opportunity to receive cash and/or equity-based incentives 
associated with common shares of the Company and to benefit from the appreciation of the common 
shares. Under the incentive plan, Restricted Stock Units (“RSUs”) granted to eligible individuals vest 
annually. Vested RSUs may be settled in cash or equity, at the discretion of the Company, at a value 
determined by the fair market value of the common shares at the vesting date.  The fair value of the 
services received in exchange for the grant of the RSUs is recognized as an expense. The total amount 
to be expensed is determined by reference to the fair value of the shares granted including any market 
performance conditions, excluding the impact of any service and non-market performance vesting 
conditions, and including the impact of any non-vesting conditions. Non-market performance and service 
conditions are included in assumptions about the number of shares that are expected to vest. The total 
expense is recognized over the vesting period, which is the period over which all of the specified vesting 
conditions are to be satisfied.  
 
The following table summarizes the RSUs outstanding at December 31, 2015 and December 31, 2014: 
 

 
Dec 31, 2015 Dec 31, 2014 

Restricted stock units outstanding 1,606,159 1,856,342 
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Share capital on March 16, 2015, was $333,515 and 83,134,204 common shares were issued and 
outstanding. Additionally, Xtreme had outstanding options entitling the holders to purchase 1,623,670 
common shares and 1,565,162 RSUs outstanding. 
 
Disclosure Controls and Procedures and Internal Control over Financial Reporting 
 
Disclosure controls and procedures (“DC&P”) means controls and other procedures of an issuer that are 
designed to provide reasonable assurance that information required to be disclosed by the issuer in its 
annual filings, interim filings or other reports filed or submitted by it under securities legislation is 
recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the securities 
legislation and include controls and procedures designed to ensure that information required to be 
disclosed by an issuer in its annual filings, interim filings or other reports filed or submitted under 
securities legislation is accumulated and communicated to the issuer’s management, including its 
certifying officers, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure. 
 
Internal controls over financial reporting (“ICFR”) means a process designed by, or under the supervision 
of, an issuer’s certifying officers, and effected by the issuer’s board of directors, management and other 
personnel, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the 
preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with the issuer’s GAAP and 
includes those policies and procedures that: 
 

(a) pertain to the maintenance of records that in reasonable detail accurately and fairly reflect the 
transactions and dispositions of the assets of the issuer; 
 
(b) are designed to provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to 
permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with the issuer’s GAAP, and that receipts 
and expenditures of the issuer are being made only in accordance with authorizations of 
management and directors of the issuer; and 
 
(c) are designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of 
unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition of the issuer’s assets that could have a material effect 
on the annual financial statements or interim financial statements. 

 
The Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”) and Chief Financial Officer (“CFO”) have designated or caused to be 
designated under their supervision, DC&P to provide reasonable assurance that (i) material information 
relating to the Company, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to the CEO and CFO by 
others within those entities, particularly during the period in which the interim filings of the Company are 
prepared; and (ii) information required to be disclosed by the Company in its annual filings, interim filings 
or other reports filed or submitted by it under securities legislation is recorded, processed, summarized 
and reported within the time period specified in securities legislation. 
 
The CEO and CFO do not expect that DC&P will prevent or detect all errors, misstatements and fraud but 
are designed to provide reasonable assurance of achieving their objectives. A control system, no matter 
how well designed or operated, can only provide reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the objectives 
of the control system are met. 
 
In addition to the DC&P, the CEO and CFO have designed ICFR or caused them to be designed under 
their supervision to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the 
preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with IFRS. 
 
The Company’s ICFR may not prevent or detect all errors, misstatements and fraud. The design of 
internal controls must take into account cost-benefit constraints. A control system, no matter how well 
designed or operated, can only provide reasonable, not absolute, assurance that objectives of the control 
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systems are met. While the Company is continually enhancing its ICFR, no material changes were made 
during the year ended December 31, 2015, that would materially affect, or are reasonably likely to 
materially affect, the Company’s ICFR. The CEO and CFO concluded that the Company’s DC&P and 
ICFR were effective as of December 31, 2015. 
 
Non-GAAP Measures 
 
Certain supplementary measures in this MD&A do not have any standardized meaning as prescribed 
under IFRS and, therefore, are considered non-GAAP measures. These measures have been described 
and presented to provide shareholders and potential investors with additional information regarding the 
Company’s financial results, liquidity and ability to generate funds to finance its operations. These 
measures may not be comparable to similar measures presented by other entities, and are further 
explained as follows.  
 
Operating Days 

Operating days represent the total of all drilling, moving, standby and other revenue days for each drilling 
rig in the fleet during the period. Management uses operating days to measure rig utilization which 
quantifies the revenue-generating activity of the fleet of drilling rigs. 

 

Rig Utilization 

Xtreme calculates rig utilization as total operating days for all rigs divided by total days in service for all 
rigs. During the fourth quarter of 2013, the Company adjusted the methodology for calculating utilization 
in the US coil services division.  Available operating days is now defined as 22 days per month for each 
unit as opposed to total calendar days as calculated in the past.  This was based on the fact that on 
average the coil service units in the US spends 5 to 6 days mobilizing between wells and 2 to 3 days on 
preventive maintenance during the month. Utilization for prior periods presented has been restated to 
conform to the current presentation.  Days spent mobilizing and performing preventive maintenance are 
not compensated. 

 
Gross Margin 

Gross margin represents revenue less operating expenses. Management believes gross margin is a 
useful supplemental measure of the financial performance of Xtreme’s principal business activities before 
considering how activities are financed or taxed, as well as other expenses not closely associated with 
activity levels. The following is the calculation of gross margin. 

 
2015 2014 % Change 

Revenue 221,359 267,441 (17) 

Less: Operating expenses 141,211 174,201 (19) 

Gross margin 80,148 93,240 (14) 

Gross margin as a percentage of revenue 36.2 34.9 4 

 

EBITDA 

EBITDA is a measure of the Company’s operating profitability. EBITDA provides an indication of the 
results generated by the Company’s principal business activities prior to how these activities are financed, 
assets are depreciated and amortized, or how results are taxed in various jurisdictions.  EBITDA is 
defined as net income (loss) before interest, income taxes, and depreciation and amortization. 
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2015 2014 

Net (loss) income (68,344) 589 

Tax expense  20,857 7,614 

Interest expense 4,502 4,572 

Amortization of intangibles 303 304 

Depreciation and impairment of property and equipment 97,832 56,158 

EBITDA 55,150 69,237 
                                                                                                                                      

Adjusted EBITDA 

Adjusted EBITDA is used by management and investors to analyze EBITDA (as defined above) prior to 
the effect of foreign exchange and share-based payment expense and is not intended to represent net 
earnings as calculated in accordance with IFRS.  Adjusted EBITDA is calculated as follows: 

2015 2014 

EBITDA 55,150 69,237 

Adjustments for non-cash items  6,002 7,735 

Adjusted EBITDA 61,152 76,972 

Adjusted EBITDA per share ($) 0.75 0.97 

Net (loss) income per share ($) (0.83) 0.07 
 
Adjustment for non-cash items includes share-based payment expenses, non-cash foreign exchange 
gains and losses, and non-recurring losses on disposal of property and equipment.  It is management’s 
view that these items referred to above are not normal operating costs and / or are non-cash operating 
expenses that should be added back to earnings as they are not reflective of sustainable, ongoing 
operations.   

The adjustments for non-cash items are as follows: 

2015 2014 

Stock-based compensation 3,131 3,053 

Loss on disposal of equipment 667 4,399 

Foreign exchange loss  2,205 262 

Other (income) expense (1) 21 

Total adjustments for non-cash items 6,002 7,735 

 
The Company believes Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA per share are important measures of 
operating performance because it allows management, investors and others to evaluate and compare 
core operating results, including the return on capital and operating efficiencies, from period to period by 
removing the impact of the capital structure (interest expense from outstanding debt), asset base 
(depreciation and amortization), tax consequences, other non-operating items and share-based 
compensation. Furthermore, the Company uses Adjusted EBITDA for business planning purposes and to 
evaluate and price potential acquisitions. In addition to its use by management, the Company also 
believes Adjusted EBITDA is a measure widely used by securities analysts, investors and others to 
evaluate the financial performance of the Company and other companies in the drilling services industry. 
Other companies may calculate Adjusted EBITDA differently, and therefore the Adjusted EBITDA 
presented by the Company may not be comparable to similarly titled measures of other companies. 
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Net Debt 

 

Net debt is a measurement used by management and the investment community which is composed of 
total debt, including amounts outstanding under the operating line, less cash and cash equivalents. 
 
Critical Accounting Estimates and Judgments 
 
The preparation of financial statements requires management to use judgment in applying its accounting 
policies and estimates and assumptions about the future. Estimates and other judgments are 
continuously evaluated and are based on management’s experience and other factors, including 
expectations about future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.  
 
Critical Accounting Judgments 
 
Significant judgments are used in the application of accounting policies related to the following material 
amounts recognized in the consolidated financial statements: 
 
Consolidation  

 
The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Xtreme and its subsidiaries over which the 
Company has control. The Company controls an entity when the Company is exposed to, or has rights to, 
variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its 
power over the entity. 
 
Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date of acquisition of control and continue to be consolidated until 
the date that there is a loss of control. All intercompany transactions, balances and unrealized gains and 
losses from intercompany transactions are eliminated on consolidation. 
 
Assessment of Impairment Indicators 

 
For its long lived assets with determinable useful lives, Xtreme assesses for impairment at least annually 
as well as when circumstances suggest that the carrying amount exceeds the recoverable amount, as 
well as when internal and external factors indicate that an impairment test is warranted.  

 

Cash Generating Units 

 
Assets are grouped into cash generating units (“CGU”) for the purpose of impairment testing. A CGU is 
defined as the lower grouping of integrated assets that generate identifiable cash inflows that are largely 
independent of cash inflows of other assets or groups of assets. The allocation of assets into CGUs 
requires significant judgment and interpretation with respect to interchangeability of rig characteristics and 
technology, geographic proximity, and other economic factors, including price and contract risk, 
operational risk, development costs and tax regimes. 

 
Critical Accounting Estimates 
 
Xtreme uses significant estimates in the determination of a number of account balances. These estimates 
have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of the underlying assets 
and liabilities within the next fiscal year. Material accounts subject to significant estimates are as follows: 
 
 
 
 

31



Xtreme Drilling and Coil Services Corp.   
For the year ended December 31, 2015    March 16, 2016  

Management’s Discussion and Analysis  
($ in thousands of Canadian dollars, except where indicated)  

  

 

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts 

 
The Company performs ongoing customer credit evaluations and grants credit based on a review of 
historical collection experience, current aging status, financial condition of the customer and anticipated 
industry conditions. Customer payments are regularly monitored and a provision for doubtful accounts is 
established based on specific situations and overall industry conditions.  
 
Impairment of Long-Lived Assets 

 
The Company evaluates its property and equipment for impairment annually and whenever events or 
changes in circumstances indicate the carrying amount may not be recoverable.  If there is any indication 
of impairment, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated to determine the impairment loss, if any. 
To calculate the recoverable amount, estimates are made regarding the following factors: future demand 
for the Company's services by oil and gas exploration and production companies, foreign currency 
exchange rates and interest rates, changes in the cost and availability of financing, replacement costs of 
drilling equipment, future repair and maintenance costs, and the Company's future operating and financial 
results. In assessing fair value less costs to disposal, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to 
their present value using a discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of 
money and the risks specific to the asset for which the estimates of future cash flows have not been 
adjusted. As a result, any impairment losses are a result of management’s best estimates of expected 
revenues, expenses and cash flows at a specific point in time. These estimates are subject to 
measurement uncertainty as they are dependent on factors outside management’s control.  
 
During the year the decline in oil and natural gas prices resulted in significant decreases in the drilling and 
service rig industry activity, adversely impacting current and expected future business and estimated 
recoverable amounts and as a result, there were indicators of impairment for the Company’s Drilling and 
Coil Services CGUs.  

The recoverable amount of each CGU was determined using the higher of fair value less cost of disposal 
(“FVLCD”) or value-in-use (“VIU”). FVLCD was established with reference to a valuation completed by an 
independent third party valuation expert and comparable transactions in the market.  Value in use was 
determined using a pre-tax discounted cash flow model. The cash flow projections were based on future 
expected outcomes taking into account past experience and management expectation of future market 
conditions. Key assumptions included future rig utilization rates, rig day rates, discount rate and other 
costs of operating drilling and coil service rigs. 

As a result of the indicators, the Company performed a comprehensive assessment of the carrying values 
of property and equipment.  The recoverable amount of each CGU was calculated using FVLCD 
determined by an independent valuation report and comparable market transactions. As a result of the 
impairment test, the Company determined that property and equipment in the US Drilling Services CGU 
and India Drilling Services CGU was impaired by approximately $33,000 and $5,500 respectively using 
FVLCD. This impairment expense is included within Depreciation and Impairment of Property and 
Equipment on the consolidated statement of Loss (Income).  The recoverable amounts of US Drilling 
Services CGU and India Drilling Services CGU were $193,500 and $25,500 respectively. 

The fair value of each CGU was categorized as Level 3 fair value based on the unobservable inputs 
used.  

Depreciation 

 
Depreciation of the Company’s property and equipment incorporates estimates of useful lives and 
residual values. These estimates may change as more experience is obtained or as general market 
conditions change, thereby impacting the value of the Company’s property and equipment. 
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The following estimates are used to calculate depreciation: 

 For rigs operating in the US, Saudi Arabia, and India, rig components and related equipment 
is depreciated on a straight-line basis over a period of 10 to 15 years with an estimated 
residual value between 0 and 20 percent; 

 
 For rigs operating in Canada, rig components and related equipment is depreciated on a 

straight-line basis over a period of 13 to 20 years with an estimated residual value between 0 
and 20 percent.  The reason for the extended life versus the US, Saudi Arabia, and India rigs 
is that Canadian rigs operate 9 to 10 months of the year due to break-up whereas the US and 
Saudi rigs work or are capable of working for the full year; 

 
 Other rig components and related equipment  is depreciated on a straight-line basis; and 
 
 Other assets, such as drill pipe, vehicles, office and leasehold improvements, etc. are 

depreciated on a straight-line basis over a period of 3 to 10 years with an estimated residual 
value between 0 and 20 percent. 

 
During the fourth quarter of 2014, in light of the economic environment, the Company performed a review 
of certain assets and components for property and equipment not currently in use.  As a result of the 
review, some of the components were transferred to spare drilling and service equipment and estimated 
remaining useful lives of certain components changed.  This resulted in additional depreciation expense 
of $2,307 for the period from October 1, 2014 to December 31, 2014.  The effect of the change in 
accounting estimate on future periods is expected to be approximately $2,500 in additional depreciation 
each year until the assets are fully depreciated.  This assumes that the estimated useful life and cost 
associated with the asset remains consistent over the remaining useful life of the assets. 
 
Fair Value of Financial Instruments 

 
The Company’s financial instruments included in the consolidated statements of financial position are 
comprised of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, current liabilities, bank indebtedness and 
long-term debt. The fair values of financial instruments included in the consolidated statement of financial 
positions approximate their carrying amounts due to the short-term maturity of those instruments. Long-
term debt is carried at amortized cost using the effective interest method of amortization.  
 
Income Taxes 

 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the future tax consequences attributable to 
differences between the financial statement amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective 
tax bases. Estimates of the Company’s future taxable income have been considered in assessing the 
utilization of available tax losses. The Company’s business is complex and the calculation of income 
taxes involves many complex factors as well as the Company’s interpretation of relevant tax legislation 
and regulations. 
 
Stock-Based Compensation 

 
The fair value of options is estimated at the grant date using the Black-Scholes option pricing model, 
which includes underlying assumptions related to the risk-free interest rate, average expected option life, 
estimated forfeitures, estimated volatility of the Company’s shares and anticipated dividends. The fair 
value of RSUs and performance stock units is recognized based on the market value of the Company’s 
common shares underlying these compensation programs. 
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Uncertain Tax Positions 

 

The Company reviews the adequacy of provisions for taxes at the end of the reporting period.  However, 
it is possible that at some future date an additional liability could result from audits by taxing authorities in 
the various jurisdictions in which the Company operates.  Where the final outcome of these tax related 
matters is different from the amounts that were initially recorded, such differences will affect the tax 
provisions in the period in which such determination is made. 

 

Critical Accounting Policies 
 
Depreciation 

 
Depreciation on assets is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate the cost of each asset to its 
residual value over its estimated useful life of between 3 and 20 years. Drilling and service equipment 
uses an estimated residual value between 0 and 20 percent of historical cost. The Company believes the 
straight-line method of depreciation is the most appropriate basis for allocating the depreciable value over 
its useful life. 
Inventory 

 
Inventory is composed of consumables and parts and is recorded at the lower of cost and net realizable 
value determined on a specific-item basis. The cost of inventory is comprised of the purchase price paid 
to a third party plus applicable duties, freight and shipping costs. Net realizable value is the estimated 
selling price in the ordinary course of business less applicable selling expenses.  
 
New and Amended Standards Adopted by the Company    
 
The Company did not adopt or amend any standards during the twelve months ending December 31, 
2015. 
 
Seasonality of Operations 
 
Areas of the US where Xtreme has drilling operations are infrequently subject to weather constraints like 
hurricanes in the southern states, but may experience operational constraints such as blizzards and other 
extreme winter conditions in the Rocky Mountain region in addition to operational restrictions for a variety 
of other reasons. Some areas are subject to environmental orders which include specific well leases and 
can prevent drilling activity during certain periods when authorities prioritize wildlife or habitat protection. 
These restrictions may also affect activity levels and operating results.  
 
The weather in Saudi Arabia features extreme aridity and heat. It is among few countries in the world 
where temperatures during the summer reach above 50 degrees C (120 degrees F). The region is also 
subject to severe sand storms. These weather conditions may constrain drilling operations and interrupt 
periods of activity which could adversely impact operating results. 
 
Canadian drilling operations are impacted during the spring months when the ground thaws and becomes 
unstable to move heavy equipment.  Government road bans restrict movement of equipment in and out of 
certain areas during the “spring break up” season.   These seasonal trends lead to quarterly fluctuations 
in operating results. Rig utilization peaks in the fourth and first quarters and decreases in the second and 
third quarters. 
 
The weather in western India also features extreme aridity and heat during the summer months. The 
region also experiences rainfall causing increased temperatures and humidity. These weather conditions 
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may constrain drilling operations and interrupt periods of activity which could adversely impact operating 
results. 
 
Business Risks and Uncertainties  
 
The Company derives all its revenue from companies in the oil and gas production industry, historically 
an industry significantly impacted by the cyclical nature of the industry and the volatility of oil and gas 
prices.  As a result, a number of risks and uncertainties affect Xtreme’s operations. Although the 
Company takes action to mitigate these risks where possible, many risks are beyond management's 
control. The following discussion does not constitute an exhaustive list of all possible risks. 

Current Market Conditions  

Beginning in October 2014, oil prices worldwide have dropped significantly.  If the downturn in oil and 
natural gas prices persist for a prolonged period or decline further, oil and gas exploration and production 
companies may cancel, curtail, reduce, delay or postpone their drilling programs for an indeterminable 
period of time.  In addition, companies may lower production spending on existing wells, thereby reducing 
demand for drilling services.  The reduction in demand for such services will likely have a direct impact on 
both utilization and dayrates, which could have a material and negative impact on Xtreme’s: 

 revenue, cash flows and profitability; 
 ability to renew or extend agreements expiring in the short term; 
 ability to maintain or increase borrowing capacity; 
 ability to obtain additional capital in the market to finance our business; 
 fair market value of the drilling and service fleet; 
 ability to make acquisitions and / or grow the existing fleet; 
 ability to collect on customer accounts; 
 ability to undertake new opportunities in other international markets; 
 ability to retain operational and support personnel; and  
 ability to invest in new technological advances.  

 
The Company has been working closely with its customers to mitigate the downturn in the market, 
focusing on lowering operating costs and agreeing to pricing concessions in exchange for contract terms 
wherever possible, while continuing to pursue opportunities, primarily in international markets where the 
demand for technologically advanced, high efficiency rigs is still prevalent.  These initiatives, combined 
with a strong cash and net debt position as well the strong historical performance of the rigs, should allow 
the Company to be well positioned to take advantage of opportunities with the return of stronger market 
conditions. 

Operational and Financial Risks  

The Company’s ability to operate, generate cash flows and complete projects is dependent on operational 
and financial risks, including crude oil and natural gas commodity prices.  Commodity prices ultimately 
drive the level of exploration and development activities carried out by the Company’s customers and the 
associated demand for the services provided by Xtreme.  Operational and financial risks such as 
continued market demand for its services and other risk factors outside of its control, which include: 
general business and market conditions; economic recessions and financial market turmoil; the ability to 
secure and maintain cost-effective financing for its commitments; environmental and regulatory matters; 
unexpected cost increases; taxes; the availability of drilling, well servicing, and other equipment; weather; 
technology failures; accidents; and the availability of skilled labor. To mitigate these risks, as part of the 
capital approval process, the Company’s projects are evaluated on a fully-risked basis.  When making 
operating and investing decisions, Xtreme’s business model allows flexibility in capital allocation to 
optimize investments focused on project returns, long-term value creation, and risk mitigation. The 
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Company also mitigates operational risks through a number of other policies, systems and processes as 
well as by maintaining a comprehensive insurance program. 
 
Dependence on Key Contracts and Customers  

The business operations of the Company depend on successful execution of drilling and service 
contracts, primarily written agreements that are cancellable at any time, most of which are subject to 
termination payments by customers. In addition, the majority of the Corporation’s rigs are subject to 
renewable contracts in respect of which no assurances can be given as to their renewal. The key factors 
which determine whether a client continues to use the Company are service quality and availability, 
reliability and performance of equipment used to perform its services, technical knowledge and 
experience, reputation for safety and competitive price. There can be no assurance that the Company’s 
relationships with its customers will continue, and a significant reduction or total loss of the business from 
these customers, if not offset by sales to new or existing customers, could have a material adverse effect 
on the Company’s business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows and, therefore, on 
the trading price of the common shares. 

 A substantial amount of the Company’s revenues are currently derived from contracts with two 
customers. The relationship between the Company and such parties is key to the continued success of 
the Company’s operations, and any impairment of such relationship could have a material adverse effect 
on the Company and its business and operations. No assurance can be given that the Company will be 
successful in maintaining its relationship with such parties. 
 
Seasonality of Operations  

In Canada and the northern part of the United States, the level of activity in the oilfield service industry is 
influenced by seasonal weather patterns. During the spring months, wet weather and the spring thaw 
make the ground unstable. Consequently, municipalities and counties and provincial and state 
transportation departments enforce road bans that restrict the movement of rigs and other heavy 
equipment, thereby reducing activity levels and placing an increased level of importance on the location 
of Xtreme’s equipment prior to imposition of the road bans. The timing and length of road bans is 
dependent upon the weather conditions leading to the spring thaw and the weather conditions during the 
thawing period. Additionally, certain oil and natural gas producing areas are located in areas of western 
Canada that are inaccessible, other than during the winter months, because the ground surrounding or 
containing the drilling sites in these areas consists of terrain known as muskeg. Until the muskeg freezes, 
the rigs and other necessary equipment cannot cross the terrain to reach the drilling site. Moreover, once 
the rigs and other equipment have been moved to a drilling site, they may become stranded or otherwise 
unable to relocate to another site should the muskeg thaw unexpectedly. Xtreme’s business results 
depend, at least in part, upon the severity and duration of the winter season. The weather in Saudi Arabia 
features extreme aridity and heat. The region is also subject to severe sand storms. In the western part of 
India, the geographic area is relatively dry and infertile, featuring high temperatures.  During the summer 
months, aside from the increased temperatures, the region does experience rainfall, causing hot and 
humid working conditions.   

Political and Foreign Risk  
 
The Company provides drilling and coil services throughout much of North America and in certain 
international onshore areas. The Canadian and United States regulatory regimes are stable and, in 
general, supportive of energy industry activity. Internationally, the Company’s operations are subject to 
regulations in various jurisdictions and support of the oil and natural gas industry can vary in different 
jurisdictions. Some international markets that the Company operated or where it considered operating 
have experienced civil unrest and/or warfare in recent years. The current political environment across the 
Middle East has seen significant increases in acts of terrorism, riots, strikes, insurrection, revolution and 
civil war. In general, the Company monitors local conditions and attempts to negotiate long-term contracts 

36



Xtreme Drilling and Coil Services Corp.   
For the year ended December 31, 2015    March 16, 2016  

Management’s Discussion and Analysis  
($ in thousands of Canadian dollars, except where indicated)  

  

 

for drilling and coil services that include early termination clauses and other clauses to protect the 
Company’s interests. 
 
Credit Risk  
 
Credit risk is managed on a consolidated basis, except for credit risk relating to accounts receivable 
balances. Each operating unit is responsible for managing and analyzing the credit risk for each of their 
new clients before standard payment and delivery terms and conditions are offered. Credit risk arises 
from deposits with banks, as well as credit exposures to customers, including outstanding receivables 
and committed transactions. For deposits, the Company only deals with independently rated institutions 
that have a minimum rating of ‘A’. Most of the Company’s customers are not independently rated, 
therefore the quality of the customer is considered by taking into account its financial position, past 
experience and other factors. Individual risk limits are set based on internal ratings in accordance with 
limits set by the board. The utilization of credit limits is regularly monitored. No credit limits were 
exceeded during the reporting period. The Company is exposed to a significant concentration of credit 
risk because the majority of the accounts receivable balances are with a small group of customers. At 
December 31, 2015, the Company had a provision for doubtful accounts of $1,107 (December 31, 2014 – 
$110). The maximum exposure to credit risk for deposits approximates the amount recognized on the 
statement of financial position. The Company does not hold any collateral as security. 
 
The following table summarizes the Xtreme’s accounts receivable amounts which management does not 
consider impaired. 
 
Accounts receivable Dec 31, 2015 Dec 31, 2014 

Less than 90 days 36,830 49,195 

Greater than 90 days and less than 180 days 1,400 219 

Greater than 180 days  2,648 1,821 

 40,878 51,235 

Less allowance for doubtful accounts (1,107) (110) 

39,771 51,125 

 
Fair Value 

The carrying values of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable and other receivables, bank 
indebtedness, accounts payable and accrued liabilities approximate their fair value due to the relatively 
short periods to maturity of the instruments. Long-term debt is initially recorded at fair value, net of 
transaction costs directly attributable to the issuance of the debt and approximates fair value as of 
December 31 , 2015, due to the fact that interest is adjusted periodically based on changes in the relevant 
benchmark interest rates and changes in the Company’s own credit risk.   

Liquidity Risk  
 
The impact on capital markets resulting from investor uncertainty related to the North American economy 
can constrain access to capital for Xtreme’s customers in the crude oil and natural gas exploration, 
development and production sector, and, subsequently, the contract services sector. 
 
As new contracts are negotiated, the Company expects to finance future capital expenditures from funds 
generated from operating activities, from borrowings and possible future debt or equity financings. 
Xtreme’s ability to source new capital is dependent on, among other factors, the overall state of capital 
markets, investor appetite for investments in oilfield services companies and, in particular, the Company’s 
securities. To the extent external sources of capital become limited or unavailable, or available on 
unacceptable terms, the Company's ability to make capital investments and to maintain existing assets 

37



Xtreme Drilling and Coil Services Corp.   
For the year ended December 31, 2015    March 16, 2016  

Management’s Discussion and Analysis  
($ in thousands of Canadian dollars, except where indicated)  

  

 

may be impaired, and its assets, liabilities, business, financial condition and, as a consequence, results of 
operations may be materially and adversely affected. 
 
It is possible that the Company, along with all other oilfield services companies, may experience restricted 
access to capital, credit facilities and equity, and may face increased borrowing costs, if the lending 
capacity of financial institutions continues to fluctuate with the global economy resulting in diminished 
capacity and higher risk premiums. Any adverse conditions in capital markets could have a material 
adverse effect on Xtreme’s business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows and, 
therefore, on the trading price of the Common Shares.  
 
Xtreme’s ability to continue its drilling and servicing activities and any future activities, and to continue to 
execute its operating and growth plan, will depend in part on its ability to continue to generate drilling and 
service revenues and/or to obtain suitable financing.  The Company intends to fund its plan of operations 
from its drilling and service operations and obtain additional financing as needed.  The Company will 
continue to review and explore strategic options for financing as needed.   

The Company’s ability to continue its activities depend, in part, on its ability to generate revenue from 
operations and / or obtain financing through debt financing, joint ventures, or other means.  There can be 
no assurance that additional financing will be available to Xtreme when needed or on acceptable terms. 
Xtreme’s inability to access financing to support ongoing operations or to fund capital expenditures or 
acquisitions could limit Xtreme’s growth and may have a material adverse effect. The failure of the 
Company to meet its ongoing obligations and debt service on a timely basis could result in a failure to 
execute under current customer contracts and agreements and realization of assets and settlement of 
liabilities in other than the normal course of business may be at amounts significantly different than those 
included in the Company’s annual information form for the year ended December 31, 2015. 
 
Following is a summary of the Company’s funding and liquidity risk management. 
 

 
Subsequent to the year ended December 31, 2015, the Company reached an agreement with a syndicate 
of financial institutions to enter into an amended and restated senior credit facility for $90,000 USD. The 
new credit facility consists of a revolving credit facility of $78,000 denominated in USD, and a $12,000 
USD-equivalent revolving credit facility, available in CAD and/or USD.  The amended facility extends the 
maturity of the current outstanding debt from December 27, 2016, to January 2, 2018, and will assist with 
financing general corporate and working capital requirements and provide working capital for capital 
expenditures.  Among other changes, the amended and restated facility increases the leverage ratio to 
not be above 3.00 to 1.00 through the quarter ending March 31, 2016, to 3.25 to 1.00 through the quarter 
ending June 30, 2017, and 3.00 to 1.00 thereafter. 
 
Foreign Exchange  

Foreign exchange volatility may give rise to gains or losses which have an effect on Xtreme’s financial 
results. Xtreme currently reports all activities in CAD. As a result, fluctuations in the value of the USD 
relative to the CAD give rise to fluctuations in reported revenue. Xtreme is also exposed to risk from 
fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates in the United States, Saudi Arabia, and India where 
revenue, expenses, assets and liabilities that are denominated in USD, Saudi Riyal, and Indian Rupee 
are translated into CAD during the reporting periods.  As a result, Xtreme’s statement of income, 
statement of financial position and statement of cash flows are impacted by changes in exchange rates 

Amount Availability Currency Use for Maturity 

Credit agreement $150,000  $26,000  USD 
Capital expenditures and 
general corporate purposes December 27, 2016 

  

Letters of guarantee $955 Undrawn  USD 
Importation of coil service 
units  
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between Canadian and United States dollars. For the twelve months ended December 31, 2015, a one 
percent change in the month-end exchange rate would have changed the net income before tax by 
approximately $464. Month-end exchange rates used to translate the USD-denominated assets and 
liabilities to CAD were $1.384 at December 31, 2015, $1.3345 at September 30, 2015, $1.249 at June 30, 
2015, $1.2666 at March 31, 2015 and $1.1601 at December 31, 2014.   

Monetary and non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the 
current rate as of the balance sheet date and any realized foreign exchange gains or losses are included 
in income, except for unrealized gains and losses in self-sustaining foreign subsidiaries, which are 
recorded in other comprehensive income. The Company does not currently utilize derivative instruments 
to manage its exposure to foreign currency rate fluctuations. Presently, a one percent change in the 
foreign currency exchange rate would result in a change in other comprehensive income of approximately 
$4,048 for the twelve months ended December 31, 2015. 
 
Interest Rates  
 
Xtreme is exposed to interest rate risk to the extent changes in market interest rates can impact operating 
and long-term debt facilities subject to floating interest rates. For the three and twelve months ended 
December 31, 2015, a one percent change in the effective interest rate would have changed net income 
before tax by approximately $257 and $1,145, respectively. 
 
Proprietary Technologies  
 
Integral to Xtreme’s equipment design and operation are certain technologies which require proving in 
actual field operations. The Company cannot assure the current and future applications for Xtreme's 
proprietary technology nor the effectiveness of these technologies in field operations. Competing 
technologies could prove more effective than those developed and used by Xtreme. In addition, patents 
for which we have applied may not be issued.  
 
Demand for Offerings  
 
Demand for Xtreme's contract drilling and coil services offerings depends to a large extent on the level of 
oil and natural gas industry activity which also influences the potential to extend or continue our existing 
long-term contracts. Volatility in short-term drilling and well service activity can result in revenue 
unpredictability. Numerous factors, over which Xtreme has no control, influence industry activity including, 
but not limited to, fluctuations in crude oil and natural gas prices, changes in supply of, or demand for, 
commodities, oil and natural gas operator budgets, competition from other contractors, government 
legislation, regulatory and economic conditions, global economic, political and military events, 
international trade barriers, location access or labor disputes, as well as fuel prices and availability and 
environmental conservation or incidents. Xtreme attempts to mitigate against these risks by targeting 
relationships with customers operating in either liquid rich gas or oil to limit exposure to the weak North 
American dry gas market. 
 
Vendor Services and Supplies  
 
Xtreme sources certain key rig components, raw materials, equipment and component parts from a 
variety of suppliers located in Canada, the United States and overseas. Xtreme also outsources some or 
all services for the construction of drilling and service rigs. While alternate suppliers exist for most of 
these components, materials, equipment, parts and services, cost increases, delays in delivery due to 
high activity or other unforeseen circumstances may be, and in fact have been, experienced. Xtreme 
maintains relationships with a number of key suppliers and contractors, maintains an inventory of key 
components, materials, equipment and parts and orders long lead time components in advance. 
However, if the current or alternate suppliers are unable to provide or deliver the necessary components, 
materials, equipment, parts and services, any resulting delays by Xtreme in the provision of services to 
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customers may have a material adverse effect on Xtreme’s revenues, cash flows and earnings. To 
attempt to mitigate this risk Xtreme maintains relationships with a number of key suppliers and uses 
internal procurement operations when appropriate. 
 
Performance of Equipment and Employees  
 
Xtreme's financial and operating results are dependent on continued successful performance of drilling 
and service rigs and related equipment and the continued operation of the existing fleet without additional 
significant capital expenditures. Xtreme’s ability to expand its drilling and coil services offering depends 
on successful recruitment and retention of qualified personnel, when needed. Any unexpected loss of 
Xtreme’s key personnel, or inability to retain or recruit skilled personnel, could have an adverse effect on 
Xtreme’s business, results of operations and financial performance. 
 
Technology  
 
Complex drilling and coil services programs for the exploration and development of remaining 
conventional and unconventional oil and natural gas reserves demand high performance equipment. The 
ability of drilling rig and well service providers to meet this demand will depend on continuous 
improvement of existing technology such as drive systems, control systems, automation, mud systems 
and top drives to improve efficiency. Xtreme’s ability to deliver equipment and services that meet 
customer demand is critical to its continued success. Xtreme cannot assure that competitors will not 
achieve technological improvements that are more advantageous, timely or cost effective than 
improvements developed by Xtreme.   
 
To attempt to mitigate this risk Xtreme has an experienced internal engineering department which works 
closely with operations and marketing on equipment design and improvements. 
 
Competitive Industry  
 
The drilling and coil services business is highly competitive with numerous industry participants. Xtreme 
believes pricing and rig availability are the primary factors considered by Xtreme’s potential customers in 
determining which contractor to select. Xtreme believes other factors are also important.  Among those 
factors are: the capabilities and condition of equipment; the quality of service and experience of crews; 
the safety record of the contractor and the particular equipment; the offering of ancillary services; the 
ability to provide equipment adaptable to, and personnel familiar with, new technologies and drilling 
techniques; and the mobility and efficiency of equipment.  
 
Capital Overbuild in the Industry  
 
Because of the long life nature of drilling and well servicing equipment and the lag between the moment a 
decision to build a piece of equipment is made and the moment the equipment is placed into service, the 
amount of available equipment in the industry does not always correlate to the level of demand for that 
equipment. Periods of high demand often spur increased capital expenditures on rigs, and those capital 
expenditures may exceed actual demand. Any capital overbuild could cause Xtreme’s competitors to 
lower their rates and could lead to a decrease in rates in the oilfield services industry generally, which 
would have an adverse effect on the revenues, cash flows and earnings of Xtreme. 
 
Environmental  
 
There is growing concern about the apparent connection between the burning of fossil fuels and climate 
change. The issue of energy and the environment has created intense public debate in Canada and 
around the world in recent years that is likely to continue for the foreseeable future and could potentially 
have a significant impact on all aspects of the economy including the demand for hydrocarbons and 

40



Xtreme Drilling and Coil Services Corp.   
For the year ended December 31, 2015    March 16, 2016  

Management’s Discussion and Analysis  
($ in thousands of Canadian dollars, except where indicated)  

  

 

resulting in lower demand for Xtreme’s services. Xtreme monitors and complies with current 
environmental requirements. 
Safety Risk  
 
Standards for the prevention of incidents in the oil and gas industry are governed by the Company safety 
policies and procedures, accepted industry safety practices, customer specific safety requirements and 
health and safety legislation. A key factor considered by Xtreme’s customers in selecting providers is 
safety.  Deterioration in Xtreme’s safety performance could result in a decline in the demand for services 
and could have a material adverse effect on Xtreme’s revenues, cash flows and earnings.  Through its 
Safety Actions for Excellence program Xtreme maintains a comprehensive training and assessment 
program designed to work towards a vision of no work place incidents resulting in injury. 
 
Taxes  

The Company is subject to many different forms of taxation in various jurisdictions throughout the world, 
including but not limited to, income tax, withholding tax, commodity tax and social security and other 
payroll related taxes, which may lead to disagreements with tax authorities regarding the application of 
tax law.  Tax law and administration is extremely complex and often requires the Company to make 
subjective determinations. The computation of income, payroll and other taxes involves many factors, 
including the interpretation of tax legislation in various jurisdictions in which the Company is subject to 
ongoing tax assessments. The Company’s estimate of tax related assets, liabilities, recoveries and 
expenses incorporates significant assumptions. These assumptions include, but are not limited to, the tax 
rates in various jurisdictions, the effect of tax treaties between jurisdictions and taxable income 
projections. To the extent that such assumptions differ from actual results, the Company may have to 
record additional tax expenses and liabilities, including interest and penalties. 

Leverage and Restrictive Covenants  

Xtreme’s ability to pay dividends or make other payments or advances will be subject to applicable laws 
and contractual restrictions in the instruments governing any indebtedness of those entities. The degree 
to which Xtreme is leveraged could have important consequences for the shareholders of Xtreme 
including, but not limited to: (i) Xtreme’s ability to obtain additional financing for working capital, capital 
expenditures or acquisitions in the future may be limited; (ii) all or part of Xtreme’s cash flow from 
operating activities may be dedicated to the payment of the principal of and interest on Xtreme’s 
indebtedness, thereby reducing funds available for future operations or for payment of dividends to 
shareholders; (iii) certain of Xtreme’s borrowings will be at variable rates of interest, which exposes 
Xtreme to the risk of increased interest rates; and (iv) Xtreme may be more vulnerable to economic 
downturns and be limited in its ability to withstand competitive pressures. These factors could have a 
material adverse effect on Xtreme’s business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows 
and, therefore, on the trading price of the common shares. 

Legal Proceedings  

From time to time, Xtreme may be subject to litigation and regulatory proceedings arising in the normal 
course of its business. Xtreme cannot determine whether such litigation and regulatory proceedings will, 
individually or collectively, have a material adverse effect on its business, results or operations and 
financial condition. To the extent expenses incurred in connection with litigation or any potential 
regulatory proceeding or action (which may include substantial fees of attorneys and other professional 
advisors and potential obligations to indemnify officers and directors who may be parties to such actions) 
are not covered by available insurance, such expenses could adversely affect Xtreme’s cash position. 

Accounting Standards and Amendments Issued But Not Yet Adopted 
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Unless otherwise noted, the following revised standards and amendments are effective for annual periods 
beginning on or after January 1, 2016, with earlier application permitted. The Company has not yet 
assessed the impact of these standards and amendments or determined whether it will early adopt them. 
 
IFRS 9, Financial Instruments (“IFRS 9”), addresses the classification, measurement and derecognition of 
financial assets and financial liabilities and introduces new rules for hedge accounting. In July 2014, the 
IASB made further changes to the classification and measurement rules and also introduced a new 
impairment model. These latest amendments now complete the new financial instruments standard. The 
standard is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018. The Company is currently 
evaluating the impact of adopting this standard on its consolidated financial statements. 
 
IFRS 15, Revenue from contracts with customers (“IFRS 15”), has been issued as a new standard on 
revenue recognition and will supersede IAS 18, Revenue, IAS 11, Construction Contracts and related 
interpretations. IFRS 15 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018. The 
Company is currently evaluating the impact of adopting this standard on its consolidated financial 
statements. 
 
IFRS 16, Leases (“IFRS 16”), has been issued as a new standard on leases and will supersede IAS 17. 
IFRS 16 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2019. The Company is currently 
evaluating the impact of adopting this standard on its consolidated financial statements. 
 
There are no other standards that are not yet effective and that would be expected to have a material 
impact on the entity in the current or future reporting periods and on foreseeable future transactions. 
 
Subsequent events 
 
New Credit Facility 
 
Subsequent to the year ended December 31, 2015, the Company reached an agreement with a syndicate 
of financial institutions to enter into an amended and restated senior credit facility for $90,000 USD. The 
new credit facility consists of a revolving credit facility of $78,000 denominated in USD, and a $12,000 
USD-equivalent revolving credit facility, available in CAD and/or USD.  The amended facility extends the 
maturity of the current outstanding debt from December 27, 2016, to January 2, 2018, and will assist with 
financing general corporate and working capital requirements and provide working capital for capital 
expenditures.  Among other changes, the amended and restated facility increases the leverage ratio to 
not be above 3.00 to 1.00 through the quarter ending March 31, 2016, to 3.25 to 1.00 through the quarter 
ending June 30, 2017, and 3.00 to 1.00 thereafter. 

 

Outlook  
 
In the fourth quarter, oilfield service activity continued to deteriorate as the active rig count in the US 
decreased by 17 percent from the third quarter and ended 2015 at 698 operating rigs.  Through the end 
of February 2016 it has fallen to 502 working rigs, or a decrease of almost 1,200 from 12 the months prior 
level.  This rapid decrease in drilling activity has forced contractors to compete aggressively on price.  In 
most resource plays current day rates are down 35 percent to 45 percent from 18 months ago. 
 
Despite the significant decrease in drilling rig activity, US oil production levels remained resilient through 
2015.  Total lower 48 production ended the year at 8.7 million barrels per day which was down from the 
June peak of 9.2 million barrels of production per day.  The slower than forecast decrease in production 
has led to record levels of oil in storage and a further leg down in oil prices.  As such, Customer capital 
budgets have been decreased significantly in 2016 with most announcements in the range of 40 percent 
to 50 percent reductions from 2015 levels.  This should lead to faster production declines in 2016 and the 
potential for a bottoming in oil prices.  Oilfield service activity levels will likely remain depressed in 2016 
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with the potential for increased utilization in 2017.  However, it is likely that pricing will remain down even 
after utilization begins to increase due to the large over supply of drilling and completion equipment. 
 
Xtreme management moved quickly to decrease the Company’s operating cost structure at the first sign 
of slowing activity levels in 2014.  This early action along with subsequent measures helped to position 
the Company for the prolonged nature of the current downturn.  The focus in 2016 will be to further 
solidify the balance sheet and maximize liquidity. As this cycle lingers liquidity will be even more important 
and should open up opportunities to acquire distressed assets or companies.  When activity levels begin 
to improve it is clear that asset quality will be paramount.  The drilling market has made what appears to 
be a fundamental shift to tier 1 rigs.  According to industry sources the AC tier 1 rig count now stands at 
257 active rigs or 60 percent of the total rig count. This is an all-time high market share for AC rigs and 
evidence that increased efficiency drives value. In most unconventional basins rig efficiency has 
significantly decreased well costs and allowed operators to drill up to 50 percent more wells per year than 
just three years prior.  Xtreme’s entire fleet of 21 drilling rigs are highly efficient AC electric rigs.   
 
In the Company’s core US coiled tubing markets of the Eagle Ford and Permian customer preference has 
clearly shifted to larger diameter coiled tubing.  This represents a complete change in mindset from 2012 
when Xtreme first introduced 2 5/8” coil in Texas and 2” and smaller coil units dominated the market.  The 
Company has now completed over 1,200 jobs and 82,000,000 round trip running feet over the past 3.5 
years; the most of any large coil provider in the Eagle Ford or Permian.  Due to the challenged 
environment it is likely that utilization and pricing will remain weakened as the rig count in the Eagle Ford 
has fallen by 129 rigs to just 29 currently operating. In addition, it is estimated that a drilled but 
uncompleted inventory of 3,000 wells currently exists in the Eagle Ford and West Texas.  This has 
compounded the reduction in completion activity. However, as the industry begins to stabilize it is likely 
that most companies will initially focus on completing the significant inventory of drilled but uncompleted 
wells.  These have the quickest cash conversion and lowest amount of capital outlay.  For this reason 
Xtreme’s coiled tubing activity should increase before the Company’s drilling activity. 
 
Internationally, the push for increased technology will continue.  Most international operators have not 
deployed the level of technology and thus achieved the same levels of efficiency as many US operators.  
The push in Saudi Arabia is for greater efficiency through the integration of technology across the service 
spectrum.  The underbalanced coiled tubing drilling project that Xtreme is currently working on continues 
to produce outstanding performance and results.  The Company is working harder than ever to leverage 
this success into increased revenue in Saudi and throughout the region.   
 
Overall, Xtreme’s leadership team has managed through both upswings and down markets. We 
understand the importance of cost management and a strong balance sheet in challenging times. The 
recent extension of the Company’s credit facility provides certainty of funding over the coming seven 
quarters.  In addition the Company’s leverage ratios are among the lowest in the industry, particularly as 
compared to similar sized competitors. Finally the industry leading XSR coil technology and 100 percent 
AC electric XDR drilling fleet is among the highest spec asset base in the industry.  These factors should 
allow Xtreme to not only survive but thrive through the current downturn and in to the next up cycle. 
 
Additional Information 
 
Information relating to Xtreme is available on SEDAR at www.sedar.com. To obtain copies of published 
corporate information, contact the Corporate Secretary at Xtreme Drilling and Coil Services Corp., 770, 
340 – 12th Avenue S.W., Calgary, AB T2R 1L5 (telephone +1 403 262-9500), visit Xtreme's website 
www.xtremecoil.com or ir@xtremecoil.com. 
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March 16, 2016

Independent Auditor’s Report

To the Shareholders of Xtreme Drilling and Coil Services Corp.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Xtreme Drilling and Coil Services
Corp. and its subsidiaries, which comprise the consolidated statements of financial position as at December 31,
2015 and December 31, 2014 and the consolidated statements of (loss) income, comprehensive (loss) income,
changes in equity and cash flows for the years then ended, and the related notes, which comprise a summary
of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Management’s responsibility for the consolidated financial statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial
statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal control as
management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits. We
conducted our audits in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards
require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s
preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as
evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained in our audits is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of Xtreme Drilling and Coil Services Corp. and its subsidiaries as at December 31, 2015 and December
31, 2014 and their financial performance and their cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards.

Chartered Professional Accountants
Calgary, Alberta

44



 

Xtreme Drilling and Coil Services Corp. 
Consolidated Statements of Financial Position 

  At December 31, 2015 and December 31, 2014 
(in thousands of Canadian dollars) 

Dec 31, 2015 Dec 31, 2014 

      

Assets           

Current assets     

   Cash and cash equivalents 11,223 13,102 

   Accounts receivable (Note 5)   39,771 51,125 

   Other receivables   351 255 

   Prepaid expenses and other   2,461  1,998  
   Inventory (Note 6)   8,693   11,405 

  62,499 77,885   

Non-current assets      

Deferred tax asset (Note 15)   – 13,486 

Property and equipment  (Note 7)   446,417 452,974 

Intangible assets (Note 8)   3,310 3,613 

Total Assets  512,226 547,958 

 

Liabilities and Shareholders' Equity      

Current liabilities      

   Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (Note 9)   29,729 39,738 

   Income tax payable  3,918  1,365  

   Current portion of provisions  (Note 20) – 1,740 

   Current portion of long-term debt (Note 10)   107,346   –  

   140,993  42,843   

Long-term liabilities    

Long-term debt (Note 10)   –   128,622 

Total Liabilities   140,993   171,465   

     

Shareholders' equity    

Share capital (Note 11)   333,515 330,964 

Share option reserve (Note 11)   15,478 14,803 

Accumulated deficit   (80,831)   (12,487)

Foreign currency translation reserve   103,071   43,213 

Total Shareholders’ Equity 371,233 376,493 

Total Liabilities and Shareholders' Equity  512,226  547,958  

      

 Contingencies and commitments  (Note 16)      

      
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements. 

 
  On behalf of the board of directors, 

 

 Doug Dafoe                                                          David Wehlmann 
 Director                                                                Director 
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Xtreme Drilling and Coil Services Corp. 
Consolidated Statements of (Loss) Income 
For the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014 
(in thousands of Canadian dollars, except share and per share data) 

  2015 2014 

     

Revenue (Note 17) 221,359 267,441 

 

Expenses  

Operating expenses (Note 13) 141,211 174,201 

General and administrative expenses (Note 13) 18,996 16,268 

Depreciation and impairment of property and equipment (Note 7) 97,832 56,158 

Amortization of intangibles (Note 8) 303 304 

Stock-based compensation 3,131 3,053 

Foreign exchange loss  2,205 262 

Loss on disposal of equipment 667 4,399 

Other (income) expense (1) 21   

Interest expense (Note 10) 4,502 4,572   

(Loss) income before tax for the year (47,487) 8,203   

 

Tax expense   

   Current (Note 15) 7,054 6,752 

   Deferred (Note 15) 13,803 862 

   Total tax expense  20,857 7,614 

     

 

Net (loss) income for the year (68,344) 589 

 

     

Net (loss) income per common share      

   – basic (0.83) 0.01   

   – diluted (0.83) 0.01   

 

Weighted average number of   

 common shares  (Note 12)  

   – basic 82,637,642 81,575,887 

   – diluted 82,637,642 82,347,343 

  

   
The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements. 
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Xtreme Drilling and Coil Services Corp. 
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive (Loss) Income  
For the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014 
(in thousands of Canadian dollars) 

                    2015                          2014 

          

Net (loss) income for the year (68,344) 589 

Other comprehensive income     

Items may be subsequently reclassified to profit or loss         

   Unrealized gain on translating    

     financial statements of foreign operations   59,858 28,070 

   Dividends declared to non-controlling interest partner  –  (1,332)     

     

Comprehensive (loss) income for the year (8,486) 27,327 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements. 
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Xtreme Drilling and Coil Services Corp. 
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Equity 
For the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014 

(in thousands of Canadian dollars) 
 

Equity attributable to the owners of the parent 

 
Share 
capital 

Share 
option 
reserve 

Accumulated 
deficit 

Foreign 
currency 

translation 
reserve 

Total 
Non-

controlling 
interest 

Total 
shareholders’ 

equity 

Balance at Jan 1, 2014 328,416 12,419 (12,697) 15,143 343,281 953 344,234 

Net income for the year  – – 589 – 589 – 589 

Other comprehensive 
income: 

       

Currency translation 
differences 

– – – 28,070 28,070 – 28,070 

Dividends declared – – – – – (1,332) (1,332) 

Settlement of purchase – – (379) – (379) 379 – 

Total comprehensive income  – – 210 28,070 28,280 (953) 27,327 

Employee  share option 
scheme:   

     

Value of employees services – 3,068 – – 3,068 – 3,068 

Transfer from share option 684 (684) – – – – – 

Proceeds from shares issued 1,864 – – – 1,864 – 1,864 

Total transactions with 
owners    

2,548 2,384 – – 4,932 – 4,932 

Balance at Dec 31, 2014  330,964 14,803 (12,487) 43,213 376,493 – 376,493 

Balance at Jan 1, 2015  330,964 14,803 (12,487) 43,213 376,493 – 376,493 

Net loss for the year – – (68,344) – (68,344) – (68,344) 
Other comprehensive 
income: 

       

Currency translation 
differences 

– – – 59,858 59,858 – 59,858 

Total comprehensive loss – – (68,344) 59,858 (8,486) – (8,486) 

Employee  share option 
scheme:     

  
 

Value of employee services – 3,140 – – 3,140 – 3,140 

Transfer from share option 2,465 (2,465) – – – – – 

Proceeds from shares issued 86 – – – 86 – 86 

Total transactions with 
owners 

2,551 675 – – 3,226 – 3,226 

Balance at Dec 31, 2015 333,515 15,478 (80,831) 103,071 371,233 – 371,233 

  
The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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Xtreme Drilling and Coil Services Corp. 
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows 
For the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014 
(in thousands of Canadian dollars) 

 2015  2014 

  

Cash flow provided by:       

Operating activities 

Net (loss) income for the year (68,344) 589 

Items not affecting cash:  

  Depreciation, impairment, and amortization  98,135 56,462 

  Stock-based compensation 3,131 3,053 

  Unrealized foreign exchange loss   16,309   262 

  Loss on disposal of equipment 667 4,399 

  Provisions for doubtful accounts  (997)   (110)

  Interest expense  4,502   4,572 

  Interest paid  (4,704)   (3,586)

  Amortization of debt issuance costs 537 458 

  Current tax expense  7,054   6,752 

  Deferred tax expense   13,803   862 

  Taxes paid  (11,608)   (4,749)

  Changes in items of working capital (Note 21)   11,490     15,889 

Net cash generated from operating activities   69,975     84,853 

Financing activities  

  Proceeds from exercise of stock options 86 1,864 

  Proceeds from long-term debt  6,579 6,961 

  Repayment of long-term debt (51,465) (18,647)

  Debt issuance cost – (125)

Net cash used in financing activities   (44,800)     (9,947)

Investing activities      

  Proceeds from sale of equipment  431   1,242 

  Capital expenditures (19,987) (65,255)

  Buyout of non-controlling interest partner (Note 20)  (1,962)   (13,263)

Changes in items of working capital relating to capital items       
(Note 21) 

 
(4,279)   6,175 

Net cash used in investing activities   (25,797)     (71,101)

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents   (1,257)     (2,923)

(Decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents  (1,879) 882 

Cash and cash equivalents -  beginning of year 13,102 12,220 

Cash and cash equivalents -  end of  year 11,223   13,102 

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements. 
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Xtreme Drilling and Coil Services Corp. 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
(in thousands of Canadian dollars) 

   

 

1. Structure of the Corporation 
 
Organization 
 
Xtreme Drilling and Coil Services Corp. (“Xtreme” or the "Company"), is a publically traded company 
incorporated May 24, 2005, under the Business Corporations Act of Alberta. The Company’s head 
office is located at 770, 340 – 12th Avenue S.W., Calgary, Alberta T2R 1L5 and its registered office is 
located at 4300, 888 – 3rd Street S.W., Calgary, Alberta T2P 5C5. The Company also maintains a 
headquarters in Houston, Texas, has a regional office and yard in Greeley, Colorado, a regional office 
in the City of Luxembourg, Luxembourg, as well as field offices in Mills, Wyoming, Jourdanton, Texas, 
Dammam, the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia (“Saudi Arabia”), and Gurgaon, the Republic of India 
(“India”). 
 
Operations 
 
Xtreme designs, builds, and operates a fleet of high specification drilling rigs and coiled tubing well 
service units featuring leading-edge proprietary technology including alternating current high capacity 
coil injectors, deep re-entry drilling capability, modular transportation systems and continuous 
integration of in-house advances in methodologies. Currently, Xtreme operates two service lines: 
drilling services (“XDR”) and coil services (“XSR”) under contracts with oil and natural gas exploration 
and production companies and integrated oilfield service providers in the United States of America 
(“United States” or “US”), Saudi Arabia, Canada, and India.  The Company is listed on the Toronto 
Stock Exchange under the symbol “XDC”. 

 

2. Basis of preparation 
 

The Company prepares its consolidated financial statements in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board 
(“IASB”).   
 
These financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors for issue on March 16, 2016. 

 
3. Summary of significant accounting policies 

 
The significant accounting policies used in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements 
are described below. These policies have been consistently applied to all years presented, unless 
otherwise stated. 

 
Basis of measurement 
 
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, as 
modified by the revaluation of financial assets and financial liabilities (including derivative 
instruments) at fair value through profit and loss.  
 
Consolidation 
  
The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Xtreme and its subsidiaries over which 
the Company has control. The Company controls an entity when the Company is exposed to, or has 
rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns 
through its power to direct the activities of the entity. 
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Xtreme Drilling and Coil Services Corp. 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
(in thousands of Canadian dollars) 

   

 

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which control and continue is transferred to the 
Company and continue to be consolidated until the date that there is a loss of control. All 
intercompany transactions, balances and unrealized gains and losses from intercompany 
transactions, are eliminated on consolidation. 
 
The following table summarizes Xtreme’s subsidiaries whose financial position and results have been 
consolidated in Xtreme’s consolidated financial statements: 
 

 
The Company also maintains and operates a project office in India. The project office is a branch of 
Xtreme Drilling and Coil Services Luxembourg S.A.  
 
Segment reporting 
 
Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the 
chief operating decision-maker (“CODM”). The chief operating decision-maker is responsible for 
allocating resources and assessing performance of the operating segments and has been identified 
as the Board of Directors of Xtreme. 
 
Foreign currency translation 
 

(i) Functional and presentation currency 

 
Items included in the financial statements of each of the Company’s entities are measured 
using the currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates (“the 
functional currency”). The functional currency of Xtreme is the Canadian dollar (“CAD”) and 
the functional currency of its subsidiaries are the United States dollar (“USD”), Saudi Arabian 
Riyal, and Indian Rupee. The consolidated financial statements are presented in CAD, which 
is the Company’s presentation currency. 
 

(ii) Transactions and balances 

  
Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange 
rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Generally, foreign exchange gains and 
losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation at year-end 
exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in a foreign currency other 
than functional currency are recognized in the consolidated statement of income. 
 

Cash and cash equivalents 
 
Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, deposits held at call with banks and other short-
term, highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less. 

  
Percentage of 

ownership   
Country of 
formation   Nature of business 

Xtreme Equipment Inc. 100% United States Asset Entity 

Xtreme Drilling and Coil Services, Inc.  100%  United States  Operating Entity 

Xtreme Drilling and Coil Services 
Luxembourg S.A. 100% Luxembourg Asset and Operating Entity 

Xtreme Equipment Group S.A.  100%  Luxembourg  Asset Entity 

Xtreme Coil Drilling Saudi Arabia Ltd.  100%  Saudi Arabia  Operating Entity 

51



Xtreme Drilling and Coil Services Corp. 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
(in thousands of Canadian dollars) 

   

 

Financial instruments 
 
Financial assets and liabilities are recognized when the Company becomes a party to the contractual 
provisions of the instrument. Financial assets are derecognized when the rights to receive cash flows 
from the assets have expired or have been transferred and the Company has transferred 
substantially all risks and rewards of ownership. Financial liabilities are derecognized when the 
obligation specified in the contract is discharged, cancelled or expires. 
 
At initial recognition, the Company classifies its financial instruments in the following categories: 
 
(i) Loans and receivables 

 
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable 
payments not quoted in an active market. The Company’s loans and receivables comprise 
trade receivables, other receivables, and cash and cash equivalents and are included in 
current assets due to their short-term nature.  Loans and receivables are initially recognized 
at the amount expected to be received less, when material, a discount to reduce the 
receivables to fair value. Subsequently, loans and receivables are measured at amortized 
cost using the effective interest method less a provision for impairment. 
 

(ii) Financial liabilities at amortized cost 
 

Financial liabilities at amortized cost include accounts payable and accrued liabilities, bank 
indebtedness and long-term debt. Accounts payable and accrued liabilities are initially 
recognized at the amount required to be paid less, when material, a discount to reduce the 
payables to fair value. Subsequently, accounts payable and accrued liabilities are measured 
at amortized cost using the effective interest method. Bank indebtedness and long-term debt 
are recognized initially at fair value, net of any transaction costs incurred, and, subsequently, 
at amortized cost using the effective interest method. Financial liabilities are classified as 
current liabilities if payment is due within twelve months. Otherwise, they are presented as 
non-current liabilities. 
 

(iii) Derivative financial instruments 
 

Derivatives are initially recognized at fair value on the date a derivative contract is entered 
into and are subsequently re-measured at their fair value at each reporting date. Gains or 
losses arising from changes in the fair value of the derivatives are presented in the income 
statement in the period in which they arise. 
 

Impairment of financial assets 
 
At each reporting date, the Company assesses whether there is objective evidence that a financial 
asset is impaired. If such evidence exists, the Company recognizes an impairment loss as the 
difference between the amortized cost of the receivable and the present value of the estimated future 
cash flows, discounted using the instrument’s original effective interest rate. The carrying amount of 
the asset is reduced by this amount, either directly or indirectly, through the use of an allowance 
account. 
 
Impairment losses on financial assets are carried at amortized cost and are reversed in subsequent 
periods if the amount of the loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an event 
occurring after the impairment was recognized.  
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
(in thousands of Canadian dollars) 

   

 

 
Inventory 
 
Inventory is composed of consumables, minor spare parts, and servicing equipment and is recorded 
at the lower of cost or net realizable value determined on a specific-item basis. The cost of inventory 
is comprised of the purchase price paid to a third party plus applicable duties, freight and shipping 
costs.  Net realizable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less 
applicable selling expenses.  If carrying value exceeds net realizable amount, a write-down is 
recognized.  The write-down may be reversed in a subsequent period if the circumstances which 
caused it no longer exist. 
 
Property and equipment 
 
Property and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated 
impairment losses. Cost includes expenditures directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset. 
Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognized as a separate asset, as 
appropriate, only when it is probable the future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to 
the Company and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. Costs related to major inspection 
and overhaul are recognized as part of the carrying amount of property and equipment if they meet 
the asset recognition criteria.  The major overhaul component will then be depreciated on a straight-
line basis over the useful life, which is estimated to be over the period to the next overhaul.  Any 
remaining costs will be derecognized when the next overhaul is performed.  Costs of the day-to-day 
servicing of property and equipment are expensed as incurred.   
 
The cost of self-constructed assets includes the cost of materials, direct labor, and any other costs 
directly attributable to bringing the asset to the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of 
operating in the manner intended by management.   

Depreciation on assets is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate the cost of each asset 
to its residual value over its estimated useful life, as follows: 

 

 

 

 

The Company allocates the amount initially recognized in respect of an item of property and 
equipment to its significant parts and depreciates separately each such part. The carrying amount of 
a replaced part is derecognized when replaced. Residual values, method of depreciation and useful 
lives of the assets are reviewed at least annually and adjusted if appropriate. 

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with the carrying amount. 
These are included in the consolidated statement of income. 

Identifiable intangible assets 
 
Xtreme capitalizes legal costs incurred with the registration of its coil drilling and technology patents 
and pending patent applications.  The Company amortizes drilling and technology patents and 
pending patent applications on a straight-line basis over a period of 20 years, which is the life of each 
patent. Costs of maintenance and defense of patents is expensed as incurred. 

Drilling and servicing equipment, including capital spares 3 - 20 years

Office and shop equipment 1 - 5  years

Vehicles and trucking equipment 3 - 10  years

Drill pipe  3  years

Building 39  years
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Borrowing costs 
 
Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets, 
which are assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use 
or sale, are added to the cost of those assets, until such time as the assets are substantially ready for 
their intended use or sale. 
 
Impairment of non-financial assets 
 
Property and equipment and intangible assets are tested for impairment when events or changes in 
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. For the purpose of 
measuring recoverable amounts, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are 
separately identifiable cash flows (cash-generating units or “CGUs”). The recoverable amount is the 
higher of an asset’s fair value less costs of disposal or value-in-use.  An impairment loss is 
recognized for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. 
Assets that suffered impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at the end of 
each reporting period. 
 
Employee benefits 
 
(i) Termination benefits 

 

The Company recognizes termination benefits when it is demonstrably committed to either 
terminating the employment of current employees according to a detailed formal plan without 
possibility of withdrawal, or providing benefits as a result of an offer made to encourage 
voluntary termination. Benefits falling due more than twelve months after the end of the 
reporting period are discounted to their present value. 

   

(ii) End of service benefits  
 
The Company recognizes end of service benefits as required by law for employees in foreign 
jurisdictions when individuals become entitled to such benefits after meeting certain minimum 
criteria. Entitlement of end of service benefits depends on whether an employee resigns or is 
terminated and is different in both cases. 
 

(iii) Stock-based compensation – stock options 
 
The Company grants stock options to certain employees of Xtreme. Stock options vest 
equally over three years and expire after five years. Each tranche in an award is considered a 
separate award with its own vesting period and grant date fair value. The fair value of each 
tranche is measured at the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing model. 
Compensation expense is recognized over the tranche’s vesting period by increasing share 
option reserve based on the number of awards expected to vest. This number is reviewed at 
least annually, with any change in estimate recognized immediately in compensation 
expense with a corresponding adjustment to share option reserve. 

 

(iv) Stock-based compensation – incentive and retention plan 
 
The incentive and retention plan is designed to provide the Company’s directors, officers and 
key employees and consultants with an opportunity to receive cash and/or equity-based 
incentives associated with common shares of the Company and to benefit from the 
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appreciation of the common shares. Under the incentive plan, shares granted to eligible 
individuals vest annually. Vested shares may be settled in cash or equity, at the discretion of 
the Company, at a value determined by the fair market value of the shares at the vesting 
date.  The fair value of the services received in exchange for the grant of the options is 
recognized as an expense. The total amount to be expensed is determined by reference to 
the fair value of the shares granted including any market performance conditions, excluding 
the impact of any service and non-market performance vesting conditions, and including the 
impact of any non-vesting conditions. Non-market performance and service conditions are 
included in assumptions about the number of shares that are expected to vest. The total 
expense is recognized over the vesting period, which is the period over which all of the 
specified vesting conditions are to be satisfied.  

Other liabilities 
 
Provisions for restructuring costs and legal claims, where applicable, are recognized when the 
Company has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events, it is more likely 
than not an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation and the amount can be 
reliably estimated. Provisions are not recognized for future operating losses. Provisions are measured 
at management’s best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the obligation at the end of the 
reporting period and are discounted to present value where the effect is material. The Company 
performs evaluations to identify onerous contracts and, where applicable, records provisions for such 
contracts. 
 
Income tax 
 
Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax is recognized in the statement of income 
except to the extent that it relates to items recognized directly in other comprehensive income or 
directly in equity, in which case the income tax is also recognized directly in other comprehensive 
income or equity, respectively. The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of the tax 
laws enacted or substantively enacted at the end of the reporting period in the countries where the 
Company’s subsidiaries and associates operate and generate taxable income. 
 
Management periodically evaluates positions taken in tax returns with respect to situations in which 
applicable tax regulation is subject to interpretation. It establishes provisions where appropriate on 
the basis of amounts expected to be paid to the tax authorities. 
 
Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability method, on temporary differences arising 
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the consolidated financial 
statements. However, deferred tax is not recognized if it arises from the initial recognition of goodwill 
or the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction other than a business combination that, 
at the time of the transaction, affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred income 
tax is provided on temporary differences arising on investments in subsidiaries and associates, 
except, in the case of subsidiaries, where the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference is 
controlled by the Company and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the 
foreseeable future. 
 
Deferred income tax is determined on a non-discounted basis using tax rates and laws that have 
been enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date and are expected to apply when the 
deferred tax asset is realized or liability is settled. Deferred tax assets are recognized to the extent 
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that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary 
differences can be utilized. 
Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are presented as non-current.  
 
Revenue  
 
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable, and represents 
amounts receivable for goods supplied or services rendered. The Company recognizes revenue 
when the amount of revenue can be reliably measured; when it is probable that future economic 
benefits will flow to the entity; and when specific criteria have been met for each of the Company’s 
activities, as specified below. 
 
The Company’s services are generally sold based upon service orders or contracts with customers 
that include fixed or determinable prices based on daily, hourly, or job rates. Customer contract terms 
do not include provisions for significant post-service delivery obligations. Revenue is recognized 
when services are rendered and only when collectability is reasonably assured. Drilling and service 
operations revenue is recognized in the accounting period in which the services are rendered, with 
reference to the stage of completion of the specific transaction and assessed on the basis of the 
actual services provided as a proportion of the total services to be provided.     
 
Early termination revenue occurs when a customer has decided to negotiate the termination of an 
existing drilling contract before the expiration of the original terms of the contract. Early termination 
revenue is recognized when an amount has been agreed upon by both parties, collection is probable, 
and the Company does not have any further services to render in order to earn the estimated 
revenue. These amounts are generally recorded as lump sum payments when a contract is 
cancelled. Some early termination contracts include a clause that would nullify a portion of the early 
termination revenue if the rig was re-contracted to a new customer. In these cases, the Company 
recognizes the early termination amounts on a monthly basis until the contract is complete or the rig 
is re-contracted and the early termination contract is nullified. Amounts collected would be recorded in 
deferred revenue initially and amortized into revenue per an appropriate recognition method. 
 
Share capital 
 
Incremental costs directly attributable to the issuance of shares are recognized as a deduction from 
equity. 
 
Earnings per share 
 
Basic earnings per share (“EPS”) is calculated by dividing the net income (loss) for the period 
attributable to equity owners of Xtreme by the weighted average number of common shares 
outstanding during the period.  
 
Diluted EPS is calculated by adjusting the weighted average number of common shares outstanding 
for dilutive instruments. The number of shares included with respect to options, warrants and similar 
instruments is computed using the treasury stock method. Xtreme’s potentially dilutive common 
shares comprise options granted to employees and warrants. 
 
New and amended standards adopted by the Company  
   
The Company did not adopt any new or amended standards for the year ended December 31, 2015. 
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Accounting standards and amendments issued but not yet adopted 
 
Unless otherwise noted, the following revised standards and amendments are effective for annual 
periods beginning on or after January 1, 2016, with earlier application permitted. The Company has 
not yet assessed the impact of these standards and amendments or determined whether it will early 
adopt them. 
 
IFRS 9, Financial Instruments (“IFRS 9”), addresses the classification, measurement and 
derecognition of financial assets and financial liabilities and introduces new rules for hedge 
accounting. In July 2014, the IASB made further changes to the classification and measurement rules 
and also introduced a new impairment model. These latest amendments now complete the new 
financial instruments standard. The standard is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 
January 1, 2018. The Company is currently evaluating the impact of adopting this standard on its 
consolidated financial statements. 
 
IFRS 15, Revenue from contracts with customers (“IFRS 15”), has been issued as a new standard on 
revenue recognition and will supersede IAS 18, Revenue, IAS 11, Construction Contracts and related 
interpretations. IFRS 15 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018. The 
Company is currently evaluating the impact of adopting this standard on its consolidated financial 
statements. 
 
IFRS 16, Leases (“IFRS 16”), has been issued as a new standard on leases and will supersede IAS 
17. IFRS 16 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2019. The Company is 
currently evaluating the impact of adopting this standard on its consolidated financial statements. 
 
There are no other standards that are not yet effective and that would be expected to have a material 
impact on the entity in the current or future reporting periods and on foreseeable future transactions. 
 

4. Critical accounting estimates and judgments 
 

The preparation of financial statements requires management to use judgment in applying its 
accounting policies and estimates and assumptions about the future. Estimates and other judgments 
are continuously evaluated and are based on management’s experience and other factors, including 
expectations about future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.  
 
Critical accounting judgments 
 
Significant judgments are used in the application of accounting policies related to the following 
material amounts recognized in the consolidated financial statements: 
 
Consolidation 
 
The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Xtreme and its subsidiaries over which 
the Company has control. The Company controls an entity when the Company is exposed to, or has 
rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns 
through its power over the entity. 
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Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date of acquisition of control and continue to be consolidated 
until the date that there is a loss of control. All intercompany transactions, balances and unrealized 
gains and losses from intercompany transactions are eliminated on consolidation. 
Cash Generating Units 
 
For its long lived assets with determinable useful lives, Xtreme assesses at each reporting date 
whether there is any indication that an asset may be impaired. If any indication exists, the Company 
estimates the asset's recoverable amount. For the purpose of impairment testing, assets are grouped 
into cash-generating units (“CGUs”). A CGU is defined as the lower grouping of integrated assets that 
generate identifiable cash inflows that are largely independent of cash inflows of other assets or 
groups of assets. The allocation of assets into CGUs requires significant judgment and interpretation 
with respect to interchangeability of rig characteristics and technology, geographic proximity, and 
other economic factors, including price and contract risk, operational risk, development costs and tax 
regimes. 
 
Going concern 
 
The Board has considered the Company’s current activities, funding position and projected funding 
requirements for the period of at least twelve months from the date of approval of the Consolidated 
Financial Statements, in determining the ability of the Company to adopt the going concern basis in 
preparing the Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended December 31, 2015. The 
assessment of the Company’s ability to execute its strategy to meet its future funding requirements 
involves judgement. 
 
Critical accounting estimates 
 
Xtreme uses significant estimates in the determination of a number of account balances. These 
estimates have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of the 
underlying assets and liabilities within the next fiscal year. Material accounts subject to significant 
estimates are as follows: 
 
Impairment of Long-Lived Assets 

 

The Company assesses at each reporting date whether there is any indication that an asset may be 
impaired. If any indication exists, the Company estimates the asset's recoverable amount. 
Recoverable amount is defined as the higher of an asset's fair value less costs of disposal and its 
value in use. Where the carrying value exceeds the recoverable amount the asset is impaired and an 
impairment loss is required to be recognized. 
 
Value in use is calculated using a discounted future cash flow model which requires management to 
make estimates of the future net cash flows to be generated from drilling rig and service rig activities. 
These estimates are dependent upon future rig utilization rates, rig rates, and other costs of operating 
drilling and coil service rigs. In calculating fair value less costs of disposal, management relies on 
third party valuation reports. As a result, any impairment losses are a result of management’s best 
estimates of expected revenues, expenses and cash flows at a specific point in time. These estimates 
are subject to measurement uncertainty as they are dependent on factors outside management’s 
control.  
 
Depreciation 
 

58



Xtreme Drilling and Coil Services Corp. 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
(in thousands of Canadian dollars) 

   

 

Depreciation of the Company’s property and equipment incorporates estimates of useful lives and 
residual values. These estimates may change as more experience is obtained or as general market 
conditions change, thereby impacting the value of the Company’s property and equipment. 

Fair Value of Financial Instruments 
 
The Company’s financial instruments included in the consolidated statement of financial position are 
comprised of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, current liabilities, bank indebtedness 
and long-term debt.  The fair values of financial instruments included in the consolidated statement of 
financial position approximate their carrying amounts due to the short-term maturity of those 
instruments. Long-term debt is carried at amortized cost using the effective interest method of 
amortization.  
 
Income Taxes 
 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the future tax consequences attributable to 
differences between the financial statement amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their 
respective tax basis. Estimates of the Company’s future taxable income have been considered in 
assessing the utilization of available tax losses. The Company’s business is complex and the 
calculation of income taxes involves many complex factors as well as the Company’s interpretation of 
relevant tax legislation and regulations. 
 
Stock-based Compensation 

 

The fair value of options is estimated at the grant date using the Black-Scholes option pricing model, 
which includes underlying assumptions related to the risk-free interest rate, average expected option 
life, estimated forfeitures, estimated volatility of the Company’s shares and anticipated dividends. The 
fair value of deferred stock units and performance stock units is recognized based on the market 
value of the Company’s common shares underlying these compensation programs. 

Uncertain Tax Positions 

The Company reviews the adequacy of provisions for taxes at the end of the reporting period.  
However, it is possible that at some future date an additional liability could result from audits by taxing 
authorities in the various jurisdictions in which the Company operates.  Where the final outcome of 
these tax related matters is different from the amounts that were initially recorded, such differences 
will affect the tax provisions in the period in which such determination is made. 
 

5. Accounts receivable 
 

 
 Dec 31, 2015 Dec 31, 2014 

Accounts receivable   

Less than 90 days  36,830 49,195 

Greater than 90 days and less than 180 days 1,400 219 

Greater than 180 days 2,648 1,821 

 40,878 51,235 

Less allowance for doubtful accounts (1,107) (110) 

39,771 51,125 

  

6. Inventory 
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Following is a summary of inventory purchased and consumed during the years ended December 31, 
2015 and 2014. 

 
 Dec 31, 2015 Dec 31, 2014 

Inventory   

Opening balance  11,405 8,181 

Purchases 13,763 17,091 

Consumption (17,209) (14,547) 

Write-offs (1,455) – 

Foreign currency translation 2,189 680 

Closing balance 8,693 11,405 
  

The Company used $17,209 in inventory during the year ended December 31, 2015 (December 31, 
2014 - $14,547). Of the amount consumed during the year ended December 31, 2015, $17,209 was 
recognized as operating expense in the consolidated statement of (loss) income (December 31, 2014 
- $14,006) and no inventory was capitalized to property and equipment for the year ended December 
31, 2015 (December 31, 2014 - $541).  
 

7. Property and equipment 
 

 

  

Drilling and 
servicing 

equipment 

Vehicles 
and 

trucking 
equipment 

Office and 
shop 

equipment  
Building 
and land 

Drilling and 
servicing 

equipment - 
CIP Total 

At January 1, 2014 

Cost  508,377 6,951 3,505 2,488 6,329 527,650

Accumulated depreciation (109,476) (2,971) (2,637) (43) – (115,127)

Net book value   398,901 3,980 868 2,445 6,329 412,523

Year Ended Dec 31, 2014     

Opening net book value 398,901 3,980 868 2,445 6,329 412,523

Additions 3,114 86 24 257 61,774 65,255

Disposals (5,401) (136) – (1) (103) (5,641)

Transfers  50,831 56 491 2,132 (53,510) – 

Depreciation expense (55,082) (715) (200) (161) – (56,158)

Exchange differences 35,386 122 58 377 1,052 36,995

Closing net book value   427,749 3,393 1,241 5,049 15,542 452,974

At Dec 31, 2014    

Cost  568,189 6,897 4,078 5,253 15,542 599,959

Accumulated depreciation (140,440) (3,504) (2,837) (204) – (146,985)

Net book value   427,749 3,393 1,241 5,049 15,542 452,974

Year Ended Dec 31, 2015    

Opening net book value 427,749 3,393 1,241 5,049 15,542 452,974

Additions 6,552 – – – 13,435 19,987

Disposals (867) (196) – – (35) (1,098)

Transfers 28,660 (2,129) 2,307 200 (29,038) – 

Depreciation and 
impairment expense (95,271) (734) (1,456) (371) – (97,832)

Exchange differences 68,649 145 268 967 2,357 72,386
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Impairment 
 
During the year the decline in oil and natural gas prices resulted in significant decreases in the drilling 
and service rig industry activity, adversely impacting current and expected future business and 
estimated recoverable amounts and as a result, there were indicators of impairment for the 
Company’s Drilling and Coil Services CGUs.  

The recoverable amount of each CGU was determined using the higher of fair value less cost of 
disposal (“FVLCD”) or value-in-use (“VIU”). FVLCD was established with reference to a valuation 
completed by an independent third party valuation expert and comparable transactions in the market.  
Value in use was determined using a pre-tax discounted cash flow model. The cash flow projections 
were based on future expected outcomes taking into account past experience and management 
expectation of future market conditions. Key assumptions included future rig utilization rates, rig day 
rates, discount rate and other costs of operating drilling and coil service rigs. 

As a result of the indicators, the Company performed a comprehensive assessment of the carrying 
values of property and equipment.  The recoverable amount of each CGU was calculated using 
FVLCD determined by an independent valuation report and comparable market transactions. As a 
result of the impairment test, the Company determined that property and equipment in the US Drilling 
Services CGU and India Drilling Services CGU was impaired by approximately $33,000 and $5,500 
respectively using FVLCD. This impairment expense is included within Depreciation and Impairment 
of Property and Equipment on the consolidated statement of Loss (Income).  The recoverable 
amounts of US Drilling Services CGU and India Drilling Services CGU were $193,500 and $25,500 
respectively. 

The fair value of each CGU was categorized as Level 3 fair value based on the unobservable inputs 
used.  

8. Intangible assets 
 

Intangible assets include the value assigned to the Company’s coil drilling and technology 
patents.  The Company capitalizes legal costs incurred with the registration of its drilling and 
technology patents and pending patent applications and amortizes these costs on a straight-line basis 
over a period of 20 years.  There were no costs capitalized in 2015 or 2014. 

Following is a summary of intangible assets at December 31, 2015 and 2014. 

January 1, 2014   

Cost 6,067 

Accumulated amortization (2,150)

Net book value 3,917 

 

Closing net book value   435,472 479 2,360 5,845 2,261 446,417

At Dec 31, 2015    

Cost  645,137 3,882 5,197 6,420 2,261 662,897
Accumulated depreciation 
and impairment (209,665) (3,403) (2,837) (575) – (216,480)

Net book value 435,472 479 2,360 5,845 2,261 446,417
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Year ended December 31, 2014  

Opening net book value 3,917 

Amortization for the year (304)

Net book value 3,613 
  

At January 1, 2015  

Cost 6,067 

Accumulated amortization (2,454)

Net book value 3,613 
 
Year ended December 31, 2015   

Opening net book value 3,613 

Amortization for the year (303)

Net book value 3,310 
  

At December 31, 2015  

Cost 6,067 

Accumulated amortization (2,757)

Net book value 3,310 

9. Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 
 

  Dec 31, 2015 Dec 31, 2014 

   

Trade payables 5,744 16,297 

Accrued expenses 7,694 3,622 

Accrued payroll 7,590 7,492 

Withholding taxes payable 4,020 10,054 

Sales taxes payable 13 122 

Property taxes payable 4,668 2,151 

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 29,729 39,738 

 

10. Debt 
 
 Dec 31, 2015 Dec 31, 2014 

Long-term debt   

Opening balance  128,622 129,076 

New debt 6,579 6,961 

Repayment of debt (51,465) (18,647)

Debt issuance costs – (125)

Amortization of debt issuance cost 537 458 

Unrealized loss on foreign currency translation 23,073 10,899 

Closing balance 107,346 128,622 

  

Current portion 107,346 – 

Non-current portion – 128,622 

Closing balance 107,346 128,622 
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Bank Indebtedness 
 
On December 27, 2013, the Company reached an agreement with a syndicate of financial institutions 
led by Wells Fargo to enter into a new senior credit facility for $150,000 (“the Credit Agreement”).  
The Credit Agreement consists of a revolving credit facility of $140,000, denominated in USD, and a 
$10,000 revolving credit facility, available in CAD and/or USD. The Credit Agreement is due in full on 

December 27, 2016. The Credit Agreement is secured by property and equipment and inventory held 

in Canada and the United States, as well as cash and trade receivables in Canada and the United 
States of approximately $27,932 CAD at December 31, 2015.   
 
At December 31, 2015, the Company had outstanding $78,000 USD under the Credit Agreement. All 
outstanding debt is classified as current in the statement of financial position as of December 31, 
2015, as it is due for repayment within the next twelve months. 
 
On December 31, 2014, the Company entered into an agreement with the syndicate of lenders to 
amend certain defined terms in the Credit Agreement, primarily the definition of “maintenance capital 
expenditures” and clarifying the definition for the calculation of the Interest Coverage Ratio.  The 
amendment to the Credit Agreement did not modify the existing payment terms, amounts, or interest 
rates under the original Credit Agreement.   
 
Subsequent to the year ended December 31, 2015, the Company reached an agreement with a 
syndicate of financial institutions to enter into an amended and restated senior credit facility for 
$90,000 USD. The new credit facility consists of a revolving credit facility of $78,000 denominated in 
USD, and a $12,000 USD-equivalent revolving credit facility, available in CAD and/or USD.  The 
amended facility extends the maturity of the current outstanding debt from December 27, 2016, to 
January 2, 2018, and will assist with financing general corporate and working capital requirements 
and provide working capital for capital expenditures.  Among other changes, the amended and 
restated facility increases the leverage ratio to not be above 3.00 to 1.00 through the quarter ending 
March 31, 2016, to 3.25 to 1.00 through the quarter ending June 30, 2017, and 3.00 to 1.00 
thereafter. 

 

As of December 31, 2015, the Company was in compliance with the debt covenants under the Credit 
Agreement as follows:  
 

 Leverage Ratio -  not above 3.00 to 1.00 required 
 

 Interest Coverage Ratio – not below 3.00 to 1.00 required 
  
The Company recognized interest expense of $4,502 and $4,572 for the years ended December 31, 
2015, and December 31, 2014, respectively, on its outstanding borrowings resulting in an effective 
annual interest on borrowings of approximately 3.9 and 3.6 percent for the years ended December 
31, 2015, and December 31, 2014, respectively. 

Following is a summary of principal repayments schedule.  
 

  Year 1 Years 2 – 3 Year 4-5 Total 

Principal repayment schedule 107,952 – – 107,952 
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11. Share capital 
 

The Company is authorized to issue an unlimited number of common voting and preferred shares 
without nominal or par value.  The Company has no preferred shares outstanding. 

Following is a summary of issued and outstanding common shares. 

 2015 2014 

Number Amount Number Amount 

Balance, beginning of year 82,286,723 330,964 81,265,732 328,416 

Employee options exercised 76,667 86 677,729 1,864 

Restricted stock units vested 744,147 – 343,262 – 

Transferred from share option reserve – 2,465 – 684 

820,814 2,551 1,020,991 2,548 

Balance, end of year 83,107,537 333,515 82,286,723 330,964 

 
Stock Option Plan 
 
The Company’s Stock Option Plan (the "Plan") for directors, officers, employees and consultants 
permits granting of options to purchase up to a maximum of 10 percent of issued and outstanding 
common shares. The board of directors sets the number of options and the exercise price thereof at 
the time of the option grant provided that the exercise price is not less than that permitted under the 
current rules of any stock exchange upon which Xtreme’s common shares are listed. Options granted 
under the Plan may be exercisable for a period not exceeding five years, generally with one-third of 
the options vesting each year for the first three years, commencing on the one-year anniversary of 
the grant. 

During the year ended December 31, 2015, no options were granted for the purchase of common 
shares (December 31, 2014 – 324,000).  As of December 31, 2015, a total of 1,668,669  options were 
outstanding (December 31, 2014 – 2,626,671).  Included in share option reserve for the year ended 
December 31, 2015, is stock-based compensation of $312 – (December 31, 2014 - $459), of which 
all was recorded as stock-based compensation expense. 

The Company uses the fair value method of accounting for stock-based compensation.  The fair 
value of options granted was estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing 
model with weighted average assumptions for grants assuming: 

 no dividends are paid on common shares;  
 a risk-free interest rate nil (1.10 to 1.62 percent -  December 31, 2014); 
 an average life of 3.0 years and expiry of 5.0 years; 
 an expected volatility nil (56 percent to 65 percent – December 31, 2014); 
 and a forfeiture rate of 27.38 percent (10 percent – December 31, 2014). 

 
The amounts computed according to the Black-Scholes pricing model may not be indicative of the 
actual values realized upon the exercise of these options by the holders. The amount of the fair value 
is charged to earnings over the period of vesting of the options, with a corresponding credit to share 
option reserve. 
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This table summarizes the status of the Company’s Stock Option Plan at December 31, 2015 and 
2014. 

  Dec 31, 2015 Dec 31, 2014 
    Weighted Weighted 
    average average 

    
  

Options 
exercise 

price       Options   
exercise 

price 
Outstanding, beginning of year   2,626,671  3.12 3,161,335 2.98 
Granted    –  – 324,000 3.86 
Exercised    (76,667)  1.12 (677,729) 2.75 
Expired (814,668)  3.26 (98,600) 4.87 
Forfeited    (66,667)  2.57   (82,335) 2.11 
Outstanding, end of year   1,668,669  3.21   2,626,671 3.12 
Options exercisable, end of year   1,478,666  3.20   1,902,667 3.26 

 
  Dec 31, 2015 
  Options outstanding Options exercisable 

Range of exercise 
prices  

Number 
outstanding 

Weighted 
average

remaining
 contractual 

life 

Weighted 
average 
exercise 

price 
Number 

exercisable 

  
Weighted 

average 
exercise 

price   
  $0.00 - $  1.49  318,335 1.76  1.12  318,335  1.12 
  $1.50 - $  4.50  1,203,334 1.57  3.55  1,039,998  3.61 
  $4.51 - $  6.99  150,000 2.36  4.95  120,333  4.95 

  1,668,669     1,478,666   

 
  Dec 31, 2014 
  Options outstanding Options exercisable 

Range of exercise 
prices  

Number 
outstanding 

Weighted 
average

remaining
 contractual 

life 

Weighted 
average 
exercise 

price 
Number 

exercisable 

  
Weighted 

average 
exercise 

price   
  $0.00 - $  1.49  401,669 2.76 1.12 264,998 1.12 
  $1.50 - $  4.50  2,003,002 2.01  3.31  1,480,999  3.45 
  $4.51 - $  6.99  222,000 2.77 5.04 156,670 5.08 

  2,626,671 2.19 3.12   1,902,667 3.26 

 
Restricted Stock Units (RSUs) 
 
The Company grants RSUs to the Company’s directors, officers, and key employees and consultants. 
Shares granted to eligible individuals vest annually.  Vested shares may be settled in cash or equity, 
at the discretion of the Company. The Company has historically settled RSUs in equity. The RSUs 
are measured at the fair market value of the shares at the grant date. RSUs are granted with vesting 
based on time of service of three years. Additionally, a 10 percent forfeiture rate and expiry of three 
years have been incorporated into the calculation of the fair values for the RSUs. 
 
Shares of common stock are issued to recipients of RSUs only when they have satisfied the 
applicable vesting conditions. The amount of the fair value is charged to earnings over the period of 
vesting of the options, with a corresponding credit to share option reserve. 
 
During the year ended December 31, 2015, the board of directors approved granting of 638,454 
RSUs (1,318,530 during the year ended December 31, 2014). As of December 31, 2015, a total of 
1,606,159 RSUs were outstanding (1,856,342 at December 31, 2014). Included in share option 
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reserve for the year ended December 31, 2015, is RSU expense of $2,827 (December 31, 2014 - 
$2,609). 
 
This table summarizes the status of the Company’s Incentive and Retention Plan at December 31, 
2015. 
 

Dec 31, 2015 Dec 31, 2014 
    Weighted Weighted 
    average average 

              RSUs grant price       RSUs  grant price 
Outstanding, beginning of year   1,856,342  3.21 1,015,992 2.73 
Granted    638,454  2.46 1,318,530 3.74 
Exercised    (744,147)  3.27 (343,262) 2.73 
Forfeited    (144,490)  3.57   (134,918) 3.62 
Outstanding, end of year   1,606,159  3.13   1,856,342 3.21 

 
                        Dec 31, 2015   Dec 31, 2014 
Share option reserve, beginning of year 14,803 12,419 
Stock-based compensation 3,140 3,068 
Share option reserve transferred on exercise of options/RSUs  (2,465)  (684)
Share option reserve, end of year       15,478 14,803 

 
At December 31, 2015, Xtreme’s stock price was $1.71 (December 31, 2014 - $2.24). 
 

12. Earnings per share 
 

Common shares potentially issuable in exchange for options, purchase warrants and performance 
warrants are not included in the computation of diluted earnings per share when to do so would be 
anti-dilutive. Diluted weighted average common shares outstanding is calculated using the treasury 
stock method, which assumes any proceeds obtained on the exercise of options is used to purchase 
common shares at the average price for the period. 
 

Dec 31, 2015 Dec 31, 2014 

Weighted average common 
  shares outstanding - basic 82,637,642 81,575,887 

Effect of options  – 771,456 

Weighted average common  
  shares outstanding - diluted 82,637,642 82,347,343 

 
For the year ended December 31, 2015, 154,295 stock options (2014 – nil) were excluded from the 
diluted weighted average number of Common shares calculations as their effect would have been 
anti-dilutive.  The average market value of the Company’s Common Shares for the purpose of 
calculating the dilutive effect of stock options was based on quoted market prices for the year ended 
December 31, 2015.   
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13. Expenses by nature 

         Dec 31, 2015   Dec 31, 2014 

Operating expenses:       

Wages and employee benefits expense 77,010 98,124 

Other operating expenses   53,102 49,049 

Mobilization expenses   825 6,473 

Repairs and maintenance   10,274 20,555 

    141,211  174,201 

General and administrative expenses:       

Wages and employee benefits expense     9,542  7,840 

Professional fees expenses    3,781  2,517 

Bad debt expense    997  110 

Other general and administrative expenses   4,676 5,801 

    18,996  16,268 

 Total operating and general and administrative expenses     160,207 190,469 

 

14. Wages and employee benefits 

Compensation awarded to key management included: 

      Dec 31, 2015   Dec 31, 2014 

Salaries and short-term employee benefits 1,894 3,928 

Severance costs    540  – 

Stock-based compensation  596 1,519 

        3,030   5,447 

 
Key management for the year ended December 31, 2015, includes the Company’s directors and 
officers (Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer, Senior Vice President of Sales and 
Marketing, Vice President of Human Resources). 
 
Key management for the year ended December 31, 2014, included the Chief Executive Officer, Chief 
Financial Officer, President and Chief Technology Officer, Vice President of Sales and Marketing, 
Vice President of Human Resources, Vice President of Operations (XDR), Vice President of Coil 
Services – North America, and Vice President of Health Safety and Environmental. 
 

15. Income tax 

      Dec 31, 2015   Dec 31, 2014 

Current tax:    

Current tax on profits for the year 7,054 6,752 

Total current tax     7,054 6,752 
 

Deferred tax:  

Origination and reversal of timing differences 13,803 862 

Total deferred tax 13,803 862 

Income tax expense     20,857 7,614 

 
The tax on the Company’s income profit before tax differs from the amount that would arise using the 
weighted average tax rate applicable to profits of the consolidated entities as follows: 
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  Dec 31, 2015   Dec 31, 2014 

Income (loss) before tax (47,487)  8,203 
    

Tax at statutory rates (12,347)  2,051 

Tax effects of:  

Income at lower rates 4,063 (3,513)

Change in tax rate (468)  – 

Non-deductible expenses 853 555 

Foreign taxes for which no benefit is recognized 3,306 4,275 

Return to provision 2,762  1,842 

Other (1,176)  (50)
Changes in unrecognized deferred tax assets 23,864  2,454 

Income tax expense  20,857 7,614 

 

The statutory tax rate was 26 percent in 2015 and 25 percent in 2014.     
 
The analysis of deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities is as follows: 

  Dec 31, 2015   Dec 31, 2014 

Deferred tax assets:   

   Deferred tax assets to be recovered after more than 12 months  – 84,625 

   Deferred tax assets to be recovered within 12 months – – 

Deferred tax liabilities:  

   Deferred tax liabilities to be recovered  after more than 12 months – (71,139)

   Deferred tax liabilities to be recovered within 12 months – – 

  Deferred tax assets (net)  – 13,486 

      
The movement of the deferred income tax account is as follows: 

2015   2014 

At January 1 13,486 14,536 

Change to the statement of income (13,803) (862)

Exchange differences 317 (188)

At December 31 – 13,486 

 
The movement in deferred income tax assets and liabilities during the year is as follows: 

Jan 1, 2015  

Changes to 
the statement 

of income 
Exchange 
differences Dec 31, 2015 

Deferred tax asset 

Non-capital losses carried forward 66,947 (9,005) 14,300 72,242 

Share issue costs 258 (213) (3) 42 

Stock-based compensation 2,500 (664) 502 2,338 

SR&ED expenditure 1,192 (261) 1 932 

Accrued charges and other  13,400 (12,807) 1,676 2,269 

Tax credits 328 4,733 (2,673) 2,388 

Total 84,625 (18,217) 13,803 80,211 

    

Deferred tax liabilities     
Depreciation on capital assets (70,565) 4,465 (13,492) (79,592) 

Amortization of intangible assets (574) (51) 6 (619) 

Total (71,139) 4,414 (13,486) (80,211) 

Deferred tax assets (net) 13,486 (13,803) 317 – 
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Jan 1, 2014 

Changes to 
the statement 

of income 
Exchange 
differences Dec 31, 2014 

Deferred tax asset 

Non-capital losses carried forward 59,382 1,492 6,074 66,948 
Share issue costs 455 (199) – 258 

Stock-based compensation 1,710 603 187 2,500 

SR&ED expenditure 1,164 28 – 1,192 

Accrued charges and other  10,379 3,033 (11) 13,401 

Tax credits 1,078 1,027 (1,777) 328 

Total 74,168 5,984 4,473 84,625 

    

Deferred tax liabilities     

Depreciation on capital assets (56,583) (6,222) (7,760) (70,565) 

Amortization of intangible assets (603) (624) 653 (574) 

Unbilled revenue (2,446) 2,446 – – 

Total (59,632) (4,400) (7,107) (71,139) 

Deferred tax assets (net) 14,536 1,584 (2,634) 13,486 

 
Deferred income tax assets are recognized for tax loss carry-forwards and tax credits to the extent 
that the realization of the related tax benefit through future taxable profits is probable. The Company 
did not recognize the benefit of tax losses and tax credits as follows:  

 
 Assets not recognized for accounting purposes: Dec 31, 2015 Dec 31, 2014 

   

Non-capital loss carry-forwards 28,141 1,336 

Capital loss carry-forwards – 6,491 

Share issue costs 17 – 

Stock-based compensation 929 – 

SR&ED expenditures 371 – 

Foreign tax credits 912 6,848 

Other 2,037 300 

  32,407 14,975 

 
The non-capital losses carried forward expire primarily between 2016 and 2033. 
 
The Company has temporary differences related to its investments in Canadian and foreign 
subsidiaries for which no deferred taxes have been recorded. As no taxes are expected to be paid 
with respect to the temporary differences related to its Canadian subsidiaries, the Company has not 
determined the amount of these temporary differences, as timing of the reversal of the temporary 
differences is controlled by the Company and it is probable that the temporary difference will not 
reverse in the foreseeable future. 
 

16. Contingencies and commitments 

 
Contingencies  
 
The Company is involved in claims and actions arising in the course of the Company’s operations and 
is subject to various legal actions and exposures, including tax positions taken by the Company. 
Although the outcome of these claims cannot be predicted with certainty, the Company does not 
expect these matters to have a material adverse effect on the Company’s financial position, cash 
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flows or results of operations. If an unfavorable outcome were to occur, there exists the possibility of 
a material adverse impact on the Company’s consolidated net earnings or loss in the period in which 
the outcome is determined. Accruals for litigation, claims and assessments are recognized if the 
Company determines that the loss is probable and the amount can be reasonably estimated. The 
Company believes it has made adequate provision for such legal claims. While fully supportable in 
the Company’s view, some of these positions, including uncertain tax positions, if challenged may not 
be fully sustained on review. 
 
Tax contingency 
 
In July 2015, the Company received a resolution of tax deficiency, or resolución determinante de un 
crédito fiscal, from the Servicio de Administracion Tributaria (“SAT”), the federal Mexican taxation 
authorities, in connection with the 2009 federal tax return filed by the Company’s subsidiary.  The 
total amount of the assessment, including tax, penalty and interest, is approximately 606 million 
Mexican pesos (approximately $48 million CAD).  The SAT is mainly contesting the deductibility of 
certain expenses under Mexican tax law on the basis that those expenditures were not “strictly 
necessary” in the undertaking of the subsidiary’s operations during that period.  Based on the review 
of the resolution of tax deficiency, the SAT is contending that such expenses have not been 
supported by evidentiary matter or sufficient explanations to support the basis of “strictly necessary”.  

The Company strongly disagrees with the SAT’s position and will vigorously contest the resolution of 
tax deficiency.  In August 2015, with the assistance of an external Mexican legal counsel, the 
Company filed an administrative claim with the SAT.  Although the Company cannot predict or 
provide assurance as to the ultimate outcome, management believes that it has sufficient 
documentation to support the deductibility of the expenses under Mexican tax law. 

Operating leases 
 
The Company is committed to operating leases for office and field facilities and the table below 
details approximate annual base rental payments. Lease terms also require Xtreme to remit a 
proportionate share of realty taxes, operating costs and utilities.  
 

 

 

 

Included in the consolidated statement of income is rent expense of approximately $677 for the year 
ended December 31, 2015 (2014 - $1,281). 
 
Purchase commitments 
 
The Company has commitments for maintenance, drilling and servicing equipment, drill pipe, planned 
rig modifications and upgrades, and spare equipment totaling approximately $2,842 at December 31, 
2015 (December 31, 2014 – $7,555), which are not reflected in these consolidated financial 
statements. The Company expects to pay such costs within the next twelve months.   
 
 
 

  Dec 31, 2015 Dec 31, 2014 

Less than 1 year 1,507 1,569 

Between 1 and 5 years 1,314 2,177 

Greater than 5 years – – 

  2,821 3,746 
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Guarantees  
 
As of December 31, 2015, the Company has two letters of guarantee outstanding with a financial 
institution amounting to approximately $1,322 (December 31, 2014 - $1,108). These letters relate to 
the importation of the coil servicing units in Saudi Arabia. As of December 31, 2015, no amounts have 
been drawn against these letters.  
 

17. Segment reporting 
  

The Company determines its operating segments based on internal information regularly reviewed by 
CODM to allocate resources and assess performance.  The tables below segment Xtreme’s revenue, 
income (loss) before tax, assets and liabilities by service line and geographic area: 
  

 “Drilling Services” represents assets, revenue and expenses associated with the fleet of high 
specification drilling rigs contracted with oil and natural gas exploration and production 
companies and integrated oilfield service providers, exclusive of general and administrative 
costs, depreciation and amortization expense, impairment losses, interest expense, realized 
and unrealized foreign exchange gains and losses, and employee incentive compensation 
changes.  These drilling rigs are designed for deeper geological zones.   

 
 “Coil Services” represents the assets, revenue and expenses, exclusive of general and 

administrative costs, depreciation and amortization expense, impairment losses, interest 
expense, realized and unrealized foreign exchange gains and losses, and employee 
incentive compensation changes. Xtreme’s coiled tubing well service units target primarily 
post fracture treatment cleanouts, re-entry, and horizontal drilling.   

 
 “Corporate and Other” represents the general and administrative costs of the Company, 

depreciation and amortization expense, impairment losses, interest expense, realized and 
unrealized foreign exchange gains and losses, and employee incentive compensation 
charges.  The Company views its corporate segment as a support function that provides 
assistance to more than one segment. 

 

 “United States”, “Canada”, “Saudi Arabia”, and “India” represents assets and revenue 
associated with operations in these respective geographic areas. 

 
 
 

Drilling 
Services Coil Services 

Corporate and 
Other Total 

For the year ended Dec 31, 2015   

   Revenue1 131,215 90,144 – 221,359 

   Segment profit 48,907 31,241 (127,635) (47,487)

   Total assets 320,848 163,448 27,930 512,226 

   Total liabilities 16,653 10,707 113,633 140,993 

   Intangible assets – – 3,310 3,310 

   Capital additions 4,976 14,491 520 19,987 

 
1Included in Drilling Services revenue for the year ended December 31, 2015 is $13,617 in early 
termination revenues. 
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United 
States Canada Saudi Arabia India Total 

For the year ended Dec 31, 2015    

   Revenue 156,908 2,719 36,930 24,801 221,359 

   Total assets 392,287 32,992 51,828 35,119 512,226 

 
Drilling 

Services Coil Services 
Corporate and 

Other Total 

For the year ended Dec 31, 2014   

   Revenue 183,718 83,723 – 267,441 

   Segment profit 58,489 34,751 (85,037) 8,203 

   Total assets 378,392 123,850 45,716 547,958 

   Total liabilities 20,169 17,593 133,703 171,465 

   Intangible assets – – 3,613 3,613 

   Capital additions 41,432 22,435 1,388 65,255 

 

For the year ended Dec 31, 2014   

   Corporate and Other:   

   General and administrative expenses  (16,268) 

   Depreciation, impairment, and amortization  (56,462) 

   Stock-based compensation  (3,053) 

   Foreign exchange loss  (262) 

   Loss on disposal of equipment  (4,399) 

   Other expense  (21) 

   Interest expense  (4,572) 

  (85,037) 

 
United 
States Canada Saudi Arabia India Total 

For the year ended Dec 31, 2014    

   Revenue 201,107 15,018 35,208 16,108 267,441 

   Total assets 395,006 60,046 52,526 40,380 547,958 

 
For the year ended December 31, 2015, three customers accounted for revenue of $89,045, or 40 
percent. Of these amounts, for the year ended December 31, 2015, Customer A accounted for 
$27,314 (12 percent), Customer B accounted for $36,930 (17 percent), Customer C accounted for 
$24,801 (11 percent). 

For the year ended Dec 31, 2015   

   Corporate and Other:   

   General and administrative expenses  (18,996) 

   Depreciation, impairment, and amortization   (98,135) 

   Stock-based compensation  (3,131) 

   Foreign exchange loss  (2,205) 

   Loss on disposal of equipment  (667) 

   Other income  1 

   Interest expense  (4,502) 

  (127,635) 
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For the year ended December 31, 2014, two customers accounted for revenue of $99,202, or 37 
percent. Of these amounts, for the year ended December 31, 2014, Customer A accounted for 
$63,994 (24 percent), Customer B accounted for $35,208 (13 percent).  
 

18. Financial instruments and fair values 
 

Measurement categories 
 
Financial assets and liabilities have been classified into categories that determine their basis of 
measurement and, for items measured at fair value, whether changes in fair value are recognized in 
the statement of income or comprehensive income. Those categories are: for assets; loans and 
receivables and for liabilities; amortized cost and fair value. The following table shows the carrying 
values of assets and liabilities for each of these categories at December 31, 2015 and 2014. 

    Dec 31, 2015   Dec 31, 2014 

Assets   

Loans and receivables   

   Cash and cash equivalents 11,223  13,102 

   Trade receivables 39,771  51,125 

   Other receivables 351  255 

   

Liabilities   

Amortized cost   

   Accounts  payable and accrued liabilities 29,729  39,738 

Current portion of long-term debt  107,346  – 

Long-term debt  –  128,622 
     
 
 
Fair values 
  
The carrying values of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable and other receivables, bank 
indebtedness, accounts payable and accrued liabilities approximate their fair value due to the 
relatively short periods to maturity of the instruments. Long-term debt is initially recorded at fair value, 
net of transaction costs directly attributable to the issuance of the debt and approximates fair value as 
of December 31, 2015, due to the fact that interest is adjusted periodically based on changes in the 
relevant benchmark interest rates and changes in the Company’s own credit risk.   

Fair value of the debt  

The Company performed the fair value analysis of its debt agreement that it entered into on 
December 27, 2013. The following (level 2) inputs were used in the valuation of the Credit Agreement 
as described in Note 10: 
 

 Implicit interest rates from the new agreement 
 

 Potential prepayments  
 

 The ability of the enterprise to service its debt obligations  
 

Financial risks factors 

The Company’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including currency risk 
and interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. Risk management is carried out by management 
under policies approved by the board of directors. Management identifies and evaluates the financial 
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risks in co-operation with the Company’s operating units. The board provides guidance for overall risk 
management, as well as written policies covering specific areas, such as foreign exchange risk, 
interest rate risk, credit risk, use of derivative financial instruments, and non-derivative financial 
instruments, and investment of excess liquidity. The Company’s overall risk management program 
seeks to minimize potential adverse effects on the Company’s financial performance. 
 
(a) Market risk 

 
(i) Foreign exchange risk  

 
The Company operates internationally and is exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from 
various currency exposures, primarily with respect to the US dollar, Saudi Riyal and Indian 
Rupee. Foreign exchange risk arises on recognized assets and liabilities. 
 
Foreign exchange risk arises when future recognized assets or liabilities are denominated in a 
currency that is not the entity’s functional currency. Management has a policy that requires 
Xtreme and its subsidiaries to manage their foreign exchange risk and imposes strict limits on 
the maximum exposures that can be entered into. The Company does not hedge foreign 
currency exposures. 
 
At December 31, 2015, if the Canadian dollar had weakened/strengthened by one percent 
against the US dollar with all other variables held constant, post-tax profit for the year would 
have been approximately $464 (2014 - $4) higher/lower, mainly as a result of foreign exchange 
gains/losses on US dollar-denominated trade receivables and payables. 
 

 (ii) Interest rate risk 
 

Xtreme is exposed to interest rate risk to the extent the changes in market interest rates can 
impact debt facilities which have a floating interest rate. For 2015, a one percent change in the 
interest rate would result in a change to net income before tax of approximately $1,145 on an 
annualized basis (2014 - $1,250). 
 

(b) Credit risk 
 

Credit risk is managed on a consolidated basis, except for credit risk relating to accounts 
receivable balances. Each operating unit is responsible for managing and analyzing the credit risk 
for each of their new clients before standard payment and delivery terms and conditions are 
offered. Credit risk arises from deposits with banks, as well as credit exposures to customers, 
including outstanding receivables and committed transactions. For deposits with banks, the 
Company only deals with independently rated institutions that have a minimum rating of ‘A’. Most 
of the Company’s customers are not independently rated, therefore the quality of the customer is 
considered by taking into account its financial position, past experience and other factors. 
Individual risk limits are set based on internal ratings in accordance with set limits. The utilization 
of credit limits is regularly monitored. The Company is exposed to a significant concentration of 
credit risk because the majority of the accounts receivable balances are with a small group of 
customers (Note 17).   
 
The maximum exposure to credit risk for deposits approximates the amount recognized on the 
statement of financial position. The Company does not hold any collateral as security. 
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The table at Note 5 summarizes the aging of the Company’s accounts receivable which 
management does not consider impaired. 

 

(c) Liquidity risk 
 

Liquidity risk relates to risks Xtreme may encounter in meeting obligations associated with 
financial liabilities and commitments. In December 2013, the Company reached an agreement 
with a syndicate of financial institution for new $150,000 senior credit facility consisting of a 
revolving credit facility of $140,000, denominated in USD, and a $10,000 revolving credit facility, 
available in Canadian and/or United States dollars.  At December 31, 2015, the Company had 
outstanding $78,000 USD under the Credit Agreement.  All outstanding debt is classified as 
current and due in full on December 27, 2016. At December 31, 2015, the total borrowing capacity 
of the Company was approximately $26,000 USD and $10,000 CAD (December 31, 2014 - 
$37,000 USD). 
 
As new contracts are negotiated, the Company expects to finance future capital expenditures from 
funds generated from operating activities, from borrowings and possible future debt or equity 
financings. Xtreme’s ability to source new capital is dependent on, among other factors, the overall 
state of capital markets, investor appetite for investments in oilfield services companies and, in 
particular, the Company’s securities. To the extent external sources of capital become limited or 
unavailable, or available on unacceptable terms, the Company's ability to make capital 
investments and to maintain existing assets may be impaired, and its assets, liabilities, business, 
financial condition and, as a consequence, results of operations may be materially and adversely 
affected. 
 
It is possible that the Company, along with all other oilfield services companies, may experience 
restricted access to capital, credit facilities and equity, and may face increased borrowing costs, if 
the lending capacity of financial institutions continues to fluctuate with the global economy 
resulting in diminished capacity and higher risk premiums. Any adverse conditions in capital 
markets could have a material adverse effect on Xtreme’s business, financial condition, results of 
operations and cash flows and, therefore, on the trading price of the Common Shares.  

 
Xtreme’s ability to continue its drilling and servicing activities and any future activities, and to 
continue to execute its operating and growth plan, will depend in part on its ability to continue to 
generate drilling and service revenues and / or to obtain suitable financing.  The Company had a 
consolidated negative working capital of approximately $78,494  as of December 31, 2015.  The 
Company intends to fund its plan of operations from its drilling and service operations and 
obtaining additional financing as needed.  The Company will continue to review and explore 
strategic options for financing as needed.   

Subsequent to the year ended December 31, 2015, the Company reached an agreement with a 
syndicate of financial institutions to enter into an amended and restated senior credit facility for 
$90,000 USD. The new credit facility consists of a revolving credit facility of $78,000 denominated 
in USD, and a $12,000 USD-equivalent revolving credit facility, available in CAD and/or USD.  The 
amended facility extends the maturity of the current outstanding debt from December 27, 2016, to 
January 2, 2018, and will assist with financing general corporate and working capital requirements 
and provide working capital for capital expenditures.  Among other changes, the amended and 
restated facility increases the leverage ratio to not be above 3.00 to 1.00 through the quarter 
ending March 31, 2016, to 3.25 to 1.00 through the quarter ending June 30, 2017, and 3.00 to 
1.00 thereafter. 
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Contractual obligations 

  

The table below illustrates various contractual obligations which the Company expects to repay, 
including any interest payments required. 
 

 

(1) Payments for long-term debt include an estimate for variable interest using the effective interest rates at 
December 31, 2015. 

 

19. Capital management 
  

Xtreme defines capital as the aggregate of shareholders’ equity and long-term debt less cash and 
cash equivalents. Xtreme’s capital management framework is designed to maintain a flexible capital 
structure that allows for optimization of the cost of capital at acceptable risk while balancing the 
interests of both equity and debt holders. 
 
Xtreme targets a net debt to equity ratio of less than 0.5:1.0, although there is a degree of variability 
associated with the timing of cash flows. If appropriate opportunities are identified, Xtreme is 
prepared to increase this ratio as high as 1.0:1.0. This policy remains unchanged from previous 
years. 
 

      Dec 31, 2015   Dec 31, 2014 
       
Shareholders' equity  371,233  376,493 
Current portion of long-term debt   107,346  – 
Long-term debt  –  128,622 
Less: Cash and cash equivalents (11,223)  (13,102) 
      Capital under management 467,356  492,013 

     
Net debt as a percentage of capital under management   21  25 
 
Net debt to equity ratio       0.3 : 1.0  0.3 : 1.0 

 
Net debt is defined as total long-term debt plus bank indebtedness less cash and cash equivalents. 
Xtreme is subject to various requirements relating to existing covenants under its credit facility, 

December 31, 2015 Less than 1 1 – 3 4 –5 

Contractual obligations Total Year  Years  Years 

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 29,729 29,729 – – 

Current portion of long-term debt (1) 112,137 112,137 – – 

Commitments 2,842 2,842 – – 

Operating leases 2,821 1,507 1,314 – 

Total contractual obligations 147,529 146,215 1,314 – 

December 31, 2014 Less than 1 1 – 3 4 –5 

Contractual obligations Total Year  Years  Years 

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 39,738 39,738 – – 

Current portion of long-term debt 136,881 – 136,881 – 

Commitments 7,555 7,555 – – 

Operating leases 3,746 1,569 1,787 390 

Total contractual obligations 187,920 48,862 138,668 390 
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including leverage and interest coverage ratio requirements. As of December 31, 2015, Xtreme was 
in compliance with the required covenants (Note 10). 

 
20. Purchase of non-controlling interest and the related provision 

On February 25, 2014, the Company finalized negotiations on the purchase of the remaining 20 
percent non-controlling interest with its partner in relation to its Saudi Arabian operations. Specifically, 
the Company and the partner finalized negotiations on the agreed purchase price of $13,500 USD 
($15,225 CAD).  
 
The Company made payments of $12,000 USD ($13,263 CAD) as of December 31, 2014, and settled 
the remaining $1,500 USD ($1,962 CAD) on July 1, 2015.   
 

21. Changes in working capital 

Supplemental Disclosure of Cash Flow Information  

For the year ended 
                           

Dec 31, 2015 
                      

Dec 31, 2014 

Accounts receivable and other receivables 11,259  10,010

Prepaid expenses and other (463)  493

Inventory  2,712 (3,224)

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (11,749)  11,687

Income taxes   2,553  1,827

4,311  20,793
Changes in non-cash working capital 
pertaining to operations:    

Changes in accrued interest  593  (589)

Changes in accrued taxes  123  1,860

Changes in accrued inventory  2,184  (2,241)

  2,900  (970)
Changes in non-cash working capital 
pertaining to investing:    

Changes in accrued capital expenditures  4,279  (3,934)

  11,490  15,889

 
At December 31, 2015, changes in accounts payable and accrued liabilities include $123 for accrued 
taxes, $593 for accrued interest, and $2,184 for accrued inventory ($1,860, $589, and $2,241, 
respectively for December 31, 2014). These amounts are included in the changes in working capital 
related to capital items in the statement of cash flows.  Also included in changes in accrued expenses 
at December 31, 2015, is $4,279 for accrued capital expenditures ($3,934 for December 31, 2014).  
 

22. Subsequent events 

 
Subsequent to the year ended December 31, 2015, the Company reached an agreement with a 
syndicate of financial institutions to enter into an amended and restated senior credit facility for 
$90,000 USD. The new credit facility consists of a revolving credit facility of $78,000 denominated in 
USD, and a $12,000 USD-equivalent revolving credit facility, available in CAD and/or USD.  The 
amended facility extends the maturity of the current outstanding debt from December 27, 2016, to 
January 2, 2018, and will assist with financing general corporate and working capital requirements 
and provide working capital for capital expenditures.  Among other changes, the amended and 
restated facility increases the leverage ratio to not be above 3.00 to 1.00 through the quarter ending 
March 31, 2016, to 3.25 to 1.00 through the quarter ending June 30, 2017, and 3.00 to 1.00 
thereafter. 
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ABOUT XTREME
Xtreme Drilling and Coil Services Corp. designs, 

builds and operates a fleet of high-specification 

drilling rigs and coiled tubing well service units. 

Our fleet is equipped with numerous patented 

and proprietary technologies developed to 

improve safety, performance and mobility. We 

currently operate our XDR drilling rigs and XSR 

coiled tubing units under contracts with oil and 

natural gas exploration and production 

companies and integrated oilfield service 

providers in North America and Asia.

* Among top 25 U.S. drillers for 2015
** Among all U.S. drillers for 2015
 Source: RigData

12,450 feet 

on well with 6,500 foot vertical

Broke our own record for 
lateral reach with 2-5/8” coil:

Set efficiency record:

COILED TUBING  
INTERVENTION

DRILLING  
RIGS

Average footage per well drilled*
Average wells drilled per marketed rig*
Average monthly footage per marketed rig*

Total footage drilled**

COLORADO RECORD – DENVER-JULESBURG BASIN

11,552 feet                   200.9 feet

drilled in one run (vertical, 
curve and lateral intervals)

average per on-bottom 
drilling hour

2015

2014

2013

2012

2011

$221.4

$61.2

6,057

REVENUE (in millions)

2015

2014

2013

2012

2011

EBITDA (in millions)

2015

2014

2013

2012

2011

OPERATING DAYS

$267.4

$229.8

$174.5

$104.0

$77.0

$73.7 

$35.0

$21.9

8,188

8,068

6,550

4,602

42 frac plugs

milled in 40 hours from 
rig-up to rig-down

#1

#9

Shareholders and other interested individuals can view Xtreme Drilling and Coil Services Corp. public documents at www.xtremecoil.com, 
where we have posted drilling rigs and coiled tubing units, locations, historical information, shareholder reports, news releases, the current 
corporate presentation, as well as trading and contact information.
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